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DIRECTORS’ REPORT

The Board of Dircctors of Emaar Properties PJSC (the “Company”) and its Subsidiaries (the
“Group”) has pleasure in submitting the consolidated statement of financial position of the Group
as at 31 December 2016 and the related consolidated income statement, consolidated statement of
comprehensive income, consolidated statement of changes in equity and consolidated statement
ol cash {lows for the year ended 31 December 2016.

Principal activities

The principal activities of the Group during the year ended 31 December 2016 were property
investment, development and development management, shopping malls and retail, hospitality,
property management and utility services and investment in providers of financial services.

Financial results

The Group has recorded a net profit attributable to the owners of the Parent of AED 5,233 million
for the year ended 31 December 2016.

In accordance with the Articles of Association of the Company and UAE Federal Law No. (2) of
2015, an appropriation of AED 523 million is made to a general reserve from the distributable
profit of AED 5,233 million. The transfer of profit to statutory reserve has been suspended as the
reserve has reached 50% of the paid up share capital.

The Board of Directors of the Company has proposed a cash dividend of 15%, which is subject to
the approval of the shareholders at the forthcoming Annual General Meeting of the Company.

The balance of the distributable profit after considering appropriation to general reserve and
proposed dividend (subject to approval of the shareholders at the Annual General Meeting) will
be transferred to retained earnings. Total shareholders’ funds as at 31 December 2016 amount to
AED 41,004 million prior to proposed dividend.

Outlook for 2017

The Group’s growth and evolution over the years reflects the dynamism of the UAE, which has
evolved as a global hub for business and leisure. As the nation sets new milestones in futuristic
developments, the Group will continue to invest in new developments, recurring income
generating assets and next-generation technology to meet the lifestyle aspirations of youth and
future generations.

Emaar’s strategy in 2017 will be defined by launching new projects at its large developments
including Dubai Hills Estate, Dubai Creek Harbour, Downtown Dubai and Emaar South. With
new retail districts at its developments and launch of The Tower in Dubai Creek Harbour, Emaar
will continue to generate significant value for its stakeholders.
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT

TO THE SHAREHOLDERS OF EMAAR PROPERTIES PJSC
Report on the audit of the consolidated financial statements
Opinion

We have audited the accompanying consolidated financial statements of [:maar Propertics PJISC
(“the Company™) and its subsidiarics (together ““the Group™), which comprisc the consolidated
statement of financial position as at 31 December 2016, and the related consolidated income
Statement, statcment of comprehensive income, changcs in cquity and cash flows for the ycar then
ended. and notes to the consolidated financial statements, including a summary of significant
accounting policics.

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements present fairly, in all matcrial respects, the
financial position of the Group as at 31 December 2016 and its financial performance and its cash
flows for the ycar then ended in accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards
(“IFRSs™).

Basis of opinion

We conducted our audit in accordance with International Standards on Auditing (*ISAs”). Our
responsibilities under thosc standards are further described in the A uditor's responsibilities for the
audit of the consolidated financial statements scetion of our report. We arc independent of the
Group in accordancc with the International Ethics Standards Board for Accountants’ Code of
Lthics for Professional Accountants (the “1ESBA Codc™) together with the cthical requirements
that are relevant to our audit of the consolidated financial statements in the United Arab Emirates,
and we have fulfilied our other cthical responsibilitics in accordance with these requirements and
the IESBA Code. Wc believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate
to provide a basis for our opinion.

Key audit matters

Key audit matters arc those matters that, in our professional judgment, were of most significance
in our audit of the consolidated financial statements of the current period. These matters were
addressed in the context of our audit of the consolidated financial statements as a whole, and in
forming our opinion thereon, and we do not provide a separate opinion on these matters. For each
matter below, our description of how our audit addressed the matter is provided in that context.

We have fulfilled the responsibilities described in the Auditor’s responsibilities for the audit of
the consolidated financial statements section of our report, including in relation to these matters.
Accordingly, our audit included the performance of procedures designed to respond to our
assessment of the risks of material misstatement of the consolidated financial statements. The
results of our audit procedures, cluding the procedures performed o address the matters below,
provide the basis for our audit opinion on the accompanying consolidated financial statements,

A member firm of Ernst & Young Global Limited 3
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT

TO THE SHAREHOLDERS OF EMAAR PROPERTIES PJSC (continued)
Key audit matters (continued)

Reveune recognition

(i) Revenue recognition on sale of properties

Group has carly adopted 1FRS 15 - Revenue Sfrom Contracts with Customers issued by the
International Accounting Standards Board (IASB) with cffect from | January 2015, as the Group
considers it better reflects the real estate business performance of the Group.

Revenue recognition on sale of propertics, including villas, apartments, commercial units and
plots of land, involves significant inherent risks duc to the judgment and cstimation involved.
Audit of judgments around the pereentage of completion of projects including the costs incurrcd
to datc against the total cost of the projcct and the successful completion of the project in the
absence of'salc of all the units under devclopment was an item requiring significant audit attention,
in particular consideration of:

®* Theability of the Group to enforcc payment for work completed under the terms of its contract
thereby meeting the IFRS 15 criteria for revenuc rccognition over time;

* The total expected cost of complction of the real cstate devclopment to which the sold unit
belongs;

®* The likelihood of collection of the remaining sales consideration; and

* The amount of infrastructure costs to be incurred to complete the development as committed.

We reviewed the contracts for salc of real estate units including villas, apartments, commercial
units and plots of land to identify the performance obli gations of the Group under these contracts
and assesscd whether these performance obligations are satisfied over time or at a point in time
bascd on the criteria specified under IFRS 15. Our focus under these contracts included the
determination of whether the Group has enforceable right to payment for performance completed
to date in order to satisfy ourselves over the revenue recognition under these contracts.

We performed test of controls over the budgeting process of the Group to assess the robustness of
these budgets with specific focus on the cxpected total cost of completion of the real estate
developments to which the sold units belong.

We performed test of details on a sample basis to determine that the costs incurred on the
developments are recorded and capitalised. We also assessed the allocation of these costs to the
sold and unsold units based on their relative area in the real estate development projects by review
of the project wise summary of the cost allocation prepared by the management.

Note 2.4 to the consolidated financial statements includes the accounting policy followed by the
Group for recognising revenue on sale of propertics.
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT

TO THE SHAREHOLDERS OF EMAAR PROPERTIES PJSC (continucd)
Key audit matters (continued)

Revenue recognition (continued)

(i)~ Accounting for lease rental income

Lease rental income amounted to ALED 4,536 million for the year ended 31 December 2016.
Generally Icasc revenue is recognised net of discount, in accordance with the terms of leasc
contracts over the lease term on a straight line basis using a standard IT system implemented in
late 2015. Also there arc few Icase arrangements wherc revenue recognition is not subject to
straight linc basis depending on the nature of the leasc arrangements and performance of the
lessce. There is an inherent risk around the accuracy of the revenue recorded given the complexity
of the I'T system and impact of the terms of lease agrecments to the revenuc recognition.

Within Icase rental income, there are also specific arrangements related to (1) rent income
computed by reference to lessee turnover and (ii) tenant incentives and guaranteed rent increases
which warrant additional audit focus as they involve high level of management cstimates and
judgments and hence have an increased inherent risk of crror due to the non-standard nature of
such transactions.

Our audit procedures included considering the appropriateness of the Group's revenue recognition
accounting policics and assessing compliance with the policies in terms of IFRSs.

We performed test of controls, assisted by our IT specialists, over revenue recognition with
spectfic focus on whether leasc income is recorded over the Icase term on a straight line basis or
other applicablc basis as per the terms of the Icase contract. We performed tests of details, on a
sample basis, to review the lease contracts entered into with the customers to asscss whether lease
income recorded is as per the contract terms and also to identify any non-standard lease clauscs
and to assess the appropriateness of the rental income accounting. We assessed the completeness
of lease rental income recorded during the year through matching the data used in the revenue
recognition to the approved lease agreements with the customers. We also performed detailed
substantive analytical procedures of Icase rental income and the timing of its recognition.

Regarding rent income calculated from lessec turnover, we performed test of controls and matched
the working to the reports received from lessecs and in case where no reports were available, we
tested management estimates. For tenant incentives and guaranteed rent increases, we matched it
to the leasc agreements as per the sample and tested management estimates,

Note 2.4 to the consolidated financial statcments includes the accounting policy followed by the
Group for recognising lease rental income.
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT
TO THE SHAREHOLDERS OF EMAAR PROPERTIES PJSC (continued)
Key audit matters (continued)

Impairment review of development properties and property, plant and equipment

The Group asscsses indicators of impairment on its development propertics, both for completed
projects and projects under development and property, plant and equipment on an ongoing basis
due to the volatility in the market values,

The Group uses valuations carried out by third party valucrs to asccrtain impairment on thesce
propertics. The valuation of the propertics involves significant cstimation and assumptions. Any
variation in the cstimation / assumptions used for the valuation of the property could have a
material impact on the consolidated financial statements of the Group.

In determining a project’s vatuation the valuers usc the direct comparison method for complcted
projects and the residual appraisal method for projects under development. The Dircet Comparison
method involves the analysis of transactions relating to direct comparable units where available
and is deemed an appropriate approach to adopt in making an assessment of market value. For
projects under development, the value of the project is determined by estimating the fair value of
the complcted project using a capitalisation method less estimated costs to completion and a risk
premium.

The cxistence of significant estimation uncertainty warrants significant audit attention in this area
as the amounts involved are very significant. Therc were also a number of specific factors
alfecting the valuations in the ycar which we considered when making our assessment.

Notes 12 and 16 to the consolidated financial statements includes the disclosure of valuation
methods and key assumptions used for the fair valuation of the propertics.

We involved our internal real estate valuation specialists to review the valuation reports for
selected properties and asscssed whether the valuation approach and mecthods used are in
accordance with the established standards for valuation of the properties and suitable for use in
determining the fair value for the purposc of assessment of impairment loss and disclosure of fair
value in the consolidated financial statements. Our internal specialist also assessed the
assumptions used by the third party valucrs in the valuation process.

We have performed audit procedures to assess whether the source data used for the valuation are
reasonable by comparing the source data used in the valuation to the management reports, and
other procedures to obtain insight into the calculation models used to determine the recoverable
value. We have discussed the source data and the rclated estimation uncertainties with various
project officers and management. We also reviewed the disclosures included in the consolidated
financial statements regarding the key assumptions which have the highest effect in the
determination of the fair value of properties. We compared the investment yields used by the
valuers lo an estimatcd range of expected yiclds. We also considered the reasonableness of other
assumptions that are not so readily comparable with published benchmarks, such as discount rates,
rate of return ctc. Where assumptions were outside the expected range or otherwise unusual.
and/or valuations showed unexpected movements, we cxtended our audit procedures and, when

necessary, held further discussions with the management.
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT
TO THE SHAREHOLDERS OF EMAAR PROPERTIES PJSC (continued)
Key audit matters (continued)

Tmipairment review of development properties and property, plant and equipment (continued)
We also assessed the qualifications and expertise of the valuers and revicwed the terms of their
engagement with the Group to determine whether there were any matters that might have affected
their objectivity or may have imposed scope limitations upon their work. We also considered fec
arrangements between the valuers and other cngagements which might exist between the Group
and the valuers.

Accounting for business acquisition

During the prior years, the Group had made investment in the cquity sharcs of Emaar MGF Land
Limited (“EMGI”) which was accounted for as investment in associate under the cquity method
of accounting. As at | January 2016, the Group had investment to the cxtent of 48.86% in the
cquity shares of EMGI-,

In May 2016, the Group filed a schemc of arrangement with the Delhi High Court in India for the
demerger (“demerger scheme”) of the operations of EMGF. based on the agrcement rcached
between the Group and the other promoter group in EMGF. Accordingly, on 18 May 2016, the
original joint venture agrcement and the mcmorandum and articles of association of EMGF have
been amended, resulting in the Group gaining control of the opcrations of EMGF.

In addition to gaining control, the Group has also increased its cquity stake in EMGF through
transfer of ownership of 7.68% from the other promoter group of EMGF to the Group in lieu of
indemnitics given for loans provided as agreed in the demerger scheme. Further, the Group has
acquired additional interest of 0.79% of shares from non-controtling shareholders of EMGF on 17
November 2016. This resulted in the Group increasing its ownership interest in EMGF from
48.86% 10 57.33%. The transaction has been accounted for using the acquisition method with

cffect from the datc of acquisition.

The acquisition accounting for these lransactions comprise significant judgement of the
management for the purchase price allocation, mainly in relation to the valuation of the assets and
liabilities such as, devclopment propertics, contingent liabilities recorded on acquisition, deferred
tax labilities and the remaining gain on bargain purchase balance. In addition, the demerger
scheme agreed between the parties required specific attention concerning the application of the
appropriate accounting treatment. Given the high level of management judgement and the
complexity of contractual agrcements we considered this area to be important for our audit.

We tested the purchase price allocations in which we reviewed the fair valuation of the various
assets and liabilities, including contingent liabilities recorded on acquisition of EMGF. We tested
that the Group applics a consistent and gencrally accepted valuation method for the valuation for
various assets and liabilitics. We involved our internal real estate valuation specialists to review
the reasonableness of management's valuation methodologics and assumptions. We evaluated the
timing and appropriateness of the accounting treatment and the consideration of the acquisitions
based on the contractual agrecments. In addition we have reviewed the adequacy of the related
disclosures included in the consolidated financial statements,

Notes 4 (a)(1) and Notc 28 to the consolidated financial statements include the disclosure of the
business acquisition made during the ycar and dctails of a contingent liability relating to EMGF.



EY

Building a better
working world

INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT

TO THE SHAREHOLDERS OF EMAAR PROPERTIES PJSC (continued)

Other information

Other information consists of the information included in the Directors’ Report, other than the
consolidated financial statements and our auditor’s report thereon. Management is responsiblc
for the other information.

Our opinion on the consolidated financial statements docs not cover the other information and we
do not express any form of assurance conclusion thercon.

In connection with our audit of the consolidated financial statements, our responsibility is to read
thc other information and, in doing so, consider whether the other information is materially
inconsistent with the consolidated financial statements or our knowledgce obtained in the audit or
otherwise appears to be materially misstated. If, based on the work we have performed, we
conclude that there is a material misstatement of this other information, we arc required to report
that fact. We have nothing to report in this regard.

Responsibilities of the management and Audit Committee for the consolidated financial
statcments

Management is responsiblc for the preparation and fair presentation of these consolidated financial
statements in accordance with IFRSs and in compliance with the applicable provisions of the
articles of association of the Company and the UAE Federal Law No. (2) of 2015, and for such
internal control as management determines is nccessary to enable the preparation of consolidated
financial statements that are frec from matcrial misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

In preparing the consolidated financial statements, management is responsible for assessing the
Group’s ability to continue as a going conccern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going
concern and using the going concern basis of accounting unless management either intends to
liquidate the Group or to cease operations, or has no realistic altcrnative but to do so.

The Audit Committee is responsible for overseeing the Group’s financial reporting process.
Auditor’s responsibilities for the audit of the consolidated financial statements

Our objective is to obtain reasonable assurance about whcther the consolidated financial
statements as a whole are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to
issue an auditor’s report that includes our opinion. Reasonable assurance is a high level of
assurance, but is not a guarantce that an audit conducted in accordance with ISAs will always
detect a material misstatement when it exists. Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and are
considered material if, individually or in the aggregate, they could reasonably be expected to
influence the economic decisions of users taken on the basis of these consolidated financial
statements.
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT
TO THE SHAREHOLDERS OF EMAAR PROPERTIES PJSC (continued)

Auditor’s responsibilities for the audit of the consolidated financial statements (continued)

As part of an audit in accordance with ISAs. we exercise professional judgment and maintain
professional skepticism throughout the audit. We also:

Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the consolidated financial statements,
whether due to fraud or crror, design and perform audit procedures responsive to those risks,
and obtain audit evidence that is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion.
The risk of not detecting a material misstatement resulting from fraud is higher than for onc
resulting from error, as fraud may involve collusion, forgery, intentional omissions,
misrepresentations, or the override of internal control,

* Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant (o the audit in order to design audit
procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purposc of expressing an
opinion on the effectiveness of the Group’s internal control.

* LEvaluate the appropriatencss of accounting policies used and the rcasonableness of
accounting cstimates and related disclosures made by management.

* Conclude on the appropriateness of management’s usc of the going concern basis of
accounting and, bascd on the audit evidence obtained, whether a material uncertainty exists
related to cvents or conditions that may cast significant doubt on the Group’s ability to
continue as a going concern. If we conclude that a material uncertainty exists, we are required
to draw attention in our auditor’s report to the related disclosures in the consolidated financial
statements or, if such disclosures are inadequate, to modify our opinion. Our conclusions are
bascd on the audit evidence obtained up to the date of our auditor’s report. However, future
cvents or conditions may cause the Group to cease to continue as a going concern,

* Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the consolidated financial
statements, including the disclosures, and whether the consolidated financial statements
represent the underlying transactions and events in a manner that achicves fair presentation.

* Obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence regarding the financial information of the entities

or business activities within the Group to express an opinion on the consolidated financial

statements. We are responsible for the direction, supervision and performance of the group
audit. We remain solely responsible for our audit opinion,

We communicate with the Audit Committee regarding, among other matters, the planned scope
and timing of the audit and significant audit findings, including any significant deficiencies in
internal control that we identify during our audit.

Wealso provide the Audit Committee with a statement that we have complicd with relevant ethical
requirements regarding independence, and to communicate with them all relationships and other
matters that may reasonably be thought to bear on our independence, and where applicable, related
safeguards.

From the matters communicated with the Audit Committee, we determine those matters that were
of most significance in the audit of the consolidated financial statements of the current period and
arc thercfore the key audit matters. We describe these matters in our auditor’s report unless law
or regulation precludes public disclosure about the matter or when, in extremely rare
circumstances, we determine that a matter should not be communicated in our report because the
adverse conscquences of doing so would rcasonably be expected to outweigh the public interest
bencfits of such communication.

9
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPOR'T

TO THE SHAREHOLDERS OF EMAAR PROPERTIES PJSC (continued)

Report on other legal and regulatory requirements

Further, as required by the UAL Federal Law No. (2) of 2015, we report that:

1)
i)

i)
1v)
v)

vi)

vil)

we have obtained all the information we considered neeessary for the purposes of our audit:
the consolidated financial statements have been preparcd and comply, in all material
respects, with the applicable provisions of the UAE Federal Law No. (2) of 2015, and the
articles of association of the Company:

the Company has maintained proper books of account;

the financial information included in the Directors’ Report is consistent with the books of
account of the Company;

investments in shares and stocks during the year ended 31 December 2016 are disclosed in
note 13 to the consolidated financial statements;

note 31 reflects material related party transactions and the terms under which they were
conducted:

based on the information that has been made available to us, nothing has come to our
attention which causes us to belicve that the Company has contravencd during the financial
year ended 31 December 2016 any of the applicable provisions of the UAE Federal Law No.
(2) of 2015 or of'its articles of association which would materially affect its activities or its
financial position as at 31 December 2016: and

viii) note 6 reflects the social contributions made during the year.

For Ernst & Young

P

Anthony O’Sullivan
Partner
Registration No. 687

6 March 2017

Dubai, United Arab Emirates



Emaar Properties PJSC and its Subsidiaries
CONSOLIDATED INCOME STATEMENT

For the ycar ended 31 December 2016

Revenue
Cost of revenue
GROSS PROFIT

Other operating income

Other operating cxpenses

Selling, general and administrative expenses
Finance income

Finance costs

Other income

Share of results of associates and joint ventures
Write off of assets

PROFIT BEFORE TAX
Income tax (expense) / credit
PROFIT FOR THE YEAR
ATTRIBUTABLE TO:

Owners of the Parent
Non-controlling interests

Earnings per share attributable to the owners of the Parent:

- basic and diluted earnings per share (AED)

Notes

15
16

27

(USS 1.00 = AED 3.673)

2016 2015
AED000 AED 000
15,539,704 13,660,536
(7,439,780) (6,397,612)
8,099,924 7,262,924
324,720 320,595
(157,040) (160,560)
(2,965,881) (2,878,562)
640,534 432,319
(598,668) (477,563)
437,292 148,672
113,950 188,790
- (301,272)
5,894,831 4,535,343
(78,564) 53,950
5,816,267 4,589,293
5,232,857 4,082,165
583,410 507,128
5,816,267 4,589,293
0.73 0.57

The accompanying notes | to 35 form an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.
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Emaar Properties PJSC and its Subsidiaries
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF COMPREHENSIVE INCOMI:

FFor the year ended 31 December 2016

(US$ 1.00 = AED 3.673)

2016 2015
AED’000 AED 000
Profit for the year 5,816,267 4,589,293
Other comprehensive income/(loss) to be reclassified to income statement
in subsequent periods:
Increase/(decreasc) in hedging reserve 10,038 (31,420)
Decrease in unrealised gains/(losses) reserve (95,406) (26,840)
Decrease in foreign currency translation reserve (2,900,191) (461,403)
Foreign currency translation loss recycled to
income statement 1,321,013 -
Net other comprehensive income/(loss) to be reclassified to income
statement in subsequent periods (1,664,546) (519,663)
Other comprehensive income/(loss) not to be reclassified to income statement
in subsequent periods:
Increase/(decrease) in unrealised gains/(losses) reserve 131,835 (201,108)
Realised gain on fair value movement through other comprehensive income 2,710 11,940
Net other comprehensive income/(loss) not to be reclassified to income
statement in subsequent periods 134,545 (189,168)
Total comprehensive income for the year 4,286,266 3,880,462
ATTRIBUTABLE TO:
Owners of the Parent 3,971,585 3,377,647
Non-controlling interests 314,681 502,815
4,286,266 3,880,462

The accompanying notes 1 to 35 form an integral part of these consolidated financial statements,
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Emaar Properties PJSC and its Subsidiaries

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION
As at 31 December 2016

(USS 1.00=AED 3.673)

2016 2015
Notes AED’000 AED'000
ASSETS
Bank balances and cash 9 17,288,535 17,918,972
Trade and unbilled receivables 10 2,691,566 2,616,981
Other assets, receivables, deposits and prepayments 11 7,884,097 4,814,487
Development properties 12 32,456,393 21,356,561
Assets classified as held for salc 4 6,213,464 -
Investments in securities 13 1,620,108 1,652,237
Loans to associates and joint ventures 14 153,709 3,022,175
Investments in associates and joint ventures 15 4,863,434 6,696,930
Property, plant and equipment 16 9,331,301 9,333,284
Investment properties 17 13,785,511 12,099,101
Goodwill 18 46,066 46,066
TOTAL ASSETS 96,334,184 79,556,794
LIABILITIES AND EQUITY
LIABILITIES
Trade and other payables 19 11,303,542 9,350,397
Advances from customers 20 15,754,394 14,071,943
Liabilities directly associated with assets classified
as held for sale 4 3,217,547 -
Retentions payable 21 892,404 803,292
Interest-bearing loans and borrowings 22 10,036,165 6,874,794
Sukuk 23 7,314,037 6,399,132
Provision for employees’ end-of-service benefits 24 148,530 136,104
TOTAL LIABILITIES 48,666,619 37,635,662
EQUITY
Equity attributable to owners of the Parent
Share capital 25 7,159,739 7,159,739
Employees’ performance share program (1,684) (1,684)
Reserves 26 16,197,029 16,938,069
Retained earnings 17,649,244 14,018,215
41,004,328 38,114,339
Non-controlling interests 6,663,237 3,806,793
TOTAL EQUITY 47,667,565 41,921,132
TOTAL LIABILITIES AND EQUITY 96,334,184 79,556,794

The consolidated financial statements were authorised for issue on 6 March 2017 by the Board of Directors and signed
on their behalf by:

P —

<~"Chairman Director

The accompanying notes 1 to 35 form an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.

13



14!

"Siuawale)s [erdueuy

S9S°LIYLY  LET'E99%9 8TEVOO'IY  pHT6p9°LI 6T0°L61°91  (p89°1) 6EL6ST L
LTST LTsT - - - - -
(sL5°87) - (SLs'82) (SL5°87) - - -
(0ss‘oce) (€58°cz¢) (L69'p) (L69'Y) - - -
(196°¢L0°1) - (196°cL0°1)  (196°€L0°]) - - -

- - - (98z°¢Z9) 98z°czs - -
(€€0°L2) (069°¢<) LE9'ST 186'ST (rre) - -
6LL°LI6T 6LLLI6T - - - - -
99798 189°v1¢ $8S°1L6'c L9S°cET s (z86°€9Z°1) - -
(100°0s°D)  (62L°897) (cLz'9z') o1 (786°€9Z°1) - -
L9T'918°¢ 01¥'¢8s LS8'TET'S LS8'TET'S - - -
TEUITE 1Y £6L°908°C 6EEPII8E  GIT'810%FI 6908691  (89°1) 6EL°6S1°L
000.43¥ 000.43v 000.a3v 000.43¥ 000.43v 000.Q3y 000.q7y

Ainba Sisad23u1 v10] S3utuapa Saauasay wp43o.ud aupys Joidpo
vio] Buijo.uoo pauIp)ay doupuiofiad 240y
-uoN , Saadojdury

(££9°s @av =001 SSN)

a4vd ay; fo siaumo ay1 o) ayquingLnY

P31epijosu0d asay) jo wed [esSayur ue uuoj ¢¢ 03 | sajou Suiuedwoase =ligg

9107 12quiddaq I¢ Je dueeg

sisaIamut Fuljjonuos-uou ur WAWIAON

(1¢ a10u) snuog SIopang

Aterpisqns e jo snuoq (SI010211p pue puapialq

(o€ a0u) S1apjoyareys o3 pred puapialqq

(92 a10u) sansas01 03 13ysues 1

({(1)(e)p a10u) Isa19u Sutjjonuod-uou jo uonisinboy

((1)(e)p 210u) uoneUIqUIOS
ssauisnq e uo Juisue 1saJaqut mE:ob:o?:oZ

Teak ayy 10y awoour aaIsuayaidwon jero g
Teak ay3 Joj awoour / (ssoy) aaisuayaidwon nYyI0
Ieak oy 10§ My01q

910 Atenuer | je souejeg

910T 12quia33(] | ¢ papus 1eak ay) 10

ALINOF NI SIONVHD 40 INHWHLVLS AI1VAITOSNOD

SSLEIPISQNS s} pue HSrd sontedoly teewryg



SI

‘SIUAUIEIS [BIDURUY PAIBPI[OSUOD 9531 JO 1red [eI39)ul ue uLIO) G¢ 0 | sajou Sulueduiosoe ay |

CEL'IT6' 1Y €6L°908°C 6EEVII'8E  SIT'810'DI 690°8€6°91 (¥89°1) 6€L°6S1°L
(6v0°cD) - (6v0°c7) (6v0°c2) - - -
(196°cL0°1) - (196°cL0°1)  (196°cL0°1) - - -
- - - (L00°TH9) L00‘TH9 - -
8509LT 8509LT - - - - -
(6T1°47) £98°0¢ (266't1) (681°Lt) L61°t - -
LOSs68 LyT's9¢ 09Z°0€S (z86°TL) rT'c09 - -
797°088°¢ S18°zos LY9'LLE'E SOI'v60°t (8st°914) - -
(1e8'80L)  (c1ch) (815v0L) 0v6°11 (8s¥°912) - -
£67°68¢S 8T1°L0S €91°780°t €91°780t - - -
PPT066°LE  018°1+9°C PEPPE'SE  867°€8L 11 180°L0%°91 (¥89°1) 6EL'6S1L
0L9°6S€°T €9L°1T LO6°LEE'T LO6°LEET - - -
VLE0E9'SE  L0°0T9°C LTS010°cE 16£°Ch1'6 180°L0%91 (¥89°1) 6EL°6S1°L
000.d3¥ 000.@3v 000.d3v 000.d3v 000.d7v 000.@d3v 000.d3v
(nba Sisa41u1 vioj s8uuava Saa4asay wp13o4d 2u0ys  ondpo
0o Buijjo.u0s pauiay douvuiofiad a240yg
-UoN o - . Saad0)dury o
12404 2y} fo siaumo ay1 01 2)quIngLY
(€29°€ @3V =001 $Sn)

S10T 19quada | ¢ 18 3ouejey

(1¢ a10u) snuoq Slopanq

(0¢ a10U) puaprarg

(92 a10u) sartasai 0 Jaysues)

Tea4 oy Surmp apew uonnqryuo)
1sa1aqul Juljjonuod-uou jo uonsinbay
ATeIpisqns ui jusunsaaw jo uonn[iq

Teak ayy 103 awodu1 aarsuaysiduwos Jel0]
Jeak oy J10j awoour (sso]) aaisuayarduwion pYO
Teak oy 10y 1y01g

S10T Atenuey | 1e 2ouejeg

Aa110d Sununosoe uy saBueyd jo 139

10T JaquadaQ [ ¢ 18 soueeg

910T 12quad3(] | ¢ papua 1eak ay) 104

(QINNILNOD) A LINOT NI SHONVHD 40 INFWALY.LS AALVAITOSNOD

SSLIBIpISQNS s1t pue DS saradold eewry



Emaar Propertics PJSC and its Subsidiaries
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS
For the year ended 31 December 2016

Notes
Cash flows from operating activities
Profit before tax
Adjustments for:
Share of resulls of associates and Jjoint ventures 15
Depreciation 6
Provision for end-of-service benefits, net 24

Loss/(gain) on disposal of property, plant and cquipment

Loss on disposal of investment properties

Gain on re-measurement of previously existing interest in an associate, net  4(a)(1)
Finance costs

Finance income 7
Provision for doubtful debts/write-off 6
Write-off of assets 16

Cash from opcerations before working capital changes:
I'rade and unbilled receivables
Other assets, receivables, deposits and prepayments
Development properties
Advances from customers 20
Trade and other payables
Retentions payable
Proceeds from insurance compensation - business interruption
Income tax, net

Net cash flows from operating activities

Cash flows from investing activities

Purchase of sccuritics 13
Proceeds from disposal of securitics

Finance income received

Dividends received from associates and joint ventures ]
Additional investments in and loans to associates and joint ventures

Amounts incurred on investment properties 17
Proceeds from disposal of investment properties

Amounts incurred on property, plant and equipment 16

Proceeds from disposal of property, plant and equipment

Deposits maturing after three months (including deposits under lien)

Proceeds from insurance compensation — loss of hotel assets

Acquisition of non-controlling interests 4(a)(1)
Nel cash and cash cquivalents acquired on acquisition of a subsidiary 4(a)(1)

Net cash flows used in investing activities

Cash flows from financing activities

Proceeds from interest-bearing loans and borrowings 22
Proceeds from issuance of Sukuk 23
Repayment of Sukuk 23
Dividends paid (including dividends of a subsidiary)

Repayment of interest-bearing loans and borrowings 22

Finance costs paid

Directors’ bonus paid (including Directors’ bonus of a subsidiary)
Proceeds from dilution of investment in a subsidiary

Movement in non-controlling interests

Net cash flows from/(used in) financing activities
Increase in cash and cash equivalents
Net foreign exchange difference

Cash and cash equivalents at the beginning of the year

Cash and cash equivalents at the end of the year 9

(USS 1.00 = AED 3.673)

2016 2015
AED'000 AED 000
5,894,831 4,535,343

(113,950) (188,790)

954,921 901,011

2,496 2,520
12,191 (2,334)
4,181 9,792
(9,247) -
598,668 477,563
(640,534) (432,319)
27,987 36,894
- 301,272
6,731,544 5,640,952
97,936 (870,076)
(2,128,776) (1,153,390)
(523,365) 78,007
(561,577) 1,484,918
(1,296,061) 349,088
39,645 81,672
18,710 -
25,328 1,828
2,403,384 5,612,999
(1,070,624) (931,116)

438,778 21,310

511,817 245,337

135,974 113,844

(392,648) (5,503)
(1,997,684) (845,730)
59 -
(1,206,677) (1,272,311)
29,907 7,693
801,541 (690,138)
81,290 -
(27,053) -
13,458 -
(2,681,862) (3,356,614)
3,117,254 1,588,353
2,754,750 .
(1,836,500) -
(1,397,894) (2,378,328)
(930,664) (680,292)
(759,121) (438,052)
(34,125) (23,049)
- 932,920
2,527 ;
916,227 (998,448)
637,749 1,257,937
(558,491) (46,848)
8,881,842 7,670,753
8,961,100 8,881,842

The accompanying notes | to 35 form an integral part of these consolidated financial statements,
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Emaar Propenies PJSC and its Sub__sidiaries
NOTES TO THI CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
At 31 December 2016

I DOMICILE AND ACTIVITIES

Emaar Properties Public Joint Stock Company (the “Company” or the “Parent”) was established as a public joint
stock company by Ministerial Decree number 66 in the ycar 1997. The Company was cstablished on 23 June 1997
and commenced opcrations on 29 July 1997. The Company and its subsidiarics constitute the Group (the “Group”).
The Company’s registered office is at P.O. Box 9440, Dubai, United Arab Emirates (“UAE”). The shares of the
Company arc traded on the Dubai Financial Market.

The principal activities of the Group are property investment, development and development management, shopping
malls and retail, hospitality, property management and utility services and investments in providers of financial
services.

The Federal Law No. (2) of 2015, concerning Commercial Companies, has come into effect from 28 June 2015,
replacing the existing Federal Law No. (8) of 1984 (as amended). The Company amended its Articles of Association
and is in the process of amending the articles of associations of all of its subsidiaries in the UAE to comply with the
requirements of the new law and expects to be fully compliant on or before the end of the grace period on 30 June
2017 (as amended).

2.1  BASIS OF PREPARATION

The consolidated financial statements of the Group are prepared in accordance with International Financial Reporting
Standards (IFRS) as issued by the International Accounting Standards Board (“IASB™) and applicable requirements
of the United Arab Emirates laws.

The consolidated financial statements have been prepared in United Arab Emirates Dirhams (AED), which is the
Company’s functional and presentation currency, and all values are rounded to the nearest thousand except where
otherwise indicated. Each entity in the Group determines its own functional currency and items included in the
financial statements of each entity are measured using that functional currency.

The consolidated financial statements have been prepared on a historical cost basis except for derivative financial
instruments and financial assets at fair value through other comprehensive income that have been measured at fair
value. Historical cost is generally based on the fair value of the consideration given in exchange for assets,

Certain comparative amounts have been reclassified to conform to the presentation used in these consolidated
financial statements,

Basis of consolidation

The consolidated financial statements comprise the financial statements of the Company and entities (including
special purpose entities) controlled by the Company (its subsidiaries) as at 31 December 2016, Control is achieved
where all the following criteria are met:

(a) the Company has power over an entity (i.e., existing rights that give it the current ability to direct the relevant
activities of the investee);

(b) the Company has exposure, or rights, to variable returns from its involvement with the entity; and

(c) the Company has the ability to use its power over the entity to affect the amount of the Company’s returns,

When the Group has less than a majority of the voting or similar rights of an investee, the Group considers all relevant
facts and circumstances in assessing whether it has power over an investee, including;

- The contractual arrangement with the other vote holders of the investee
- Rights arising from other contractual arrangements
- The Group’s voting rights and potential voting rights

The Group re-assesses whether or not it controls an investee if facts and circumstances indicate that there are changes
to one or more of the three elements of control. Consolidation of a subsidiary begins when the Group obtains control
over the subsidiary and ceases when the Group loses control of the subsidiary. Assets, liabilities, income and expenses
of a subsidiary acquired or disposed of during the year are included in the consolidated financial statements from the
date the Group gains control until the date the Group ceases to control the subsidiary.

Subsidiaries

Subsidiaries are fully consolidated from the date of acquisition or incorporation, being the date on which the Group
obtains control, and continue to be consolidated until the date when such control ceases. The financial statements of
the subsidiaries are prepared for the same reporting period as the Company, using consistent accounting policies. All
intra-group balances, transactions, unrealised gains and losses resulting from intra-group transactions and dividends
are eliminated in full.
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Emaar Propertics PISC and its Subsidiaries B
NOTLES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)
At 31 December 2016

2.1  BASIS OF PREPARATION (continued)

Basis of consolidation (continued)

Subsidiaries (continued)

Share of comprehensive income/loss within a subsidiary is attributed to the non-controlling interest even if that results
in a deficit balance,

A change in the ownership interest of a subsidiary, without a loss of control, is accounted for as an equity transaction.
If the Group loses control over a subsidiary, it:

- Derccognises the assets (including goodwill) and liabilities of the subsidiary;

- Derecognises the carrying amount of any non-controlling interest;

- Derecognises the cumulative translation differences, recorded in equity;

- Recognises the fair value of the consideration received;

- Recognises the fair value of any investment retained:;

- Recognises any surplus or deficit in the consolidated income statement; and

- Reclassifics the Group’s share of components previously recognised in other comprehensive income to the
consolidated income statement or retained earnings, as appropriate.

Details of the Company’s significant subsidiaries as at 3 December 2016 are as follows:

Place of Percentage
Subsidiary incorporation Principal activities of beneficial
interest
Emaar Hospitality Group LLC UAE Providing hospitality 100.00%
services
Emaar Properties Gayrimenkul F“c':lpuurll)(hc"c;f Turkey groplerty mvte stment and 100.00%
Gelistirme Anonim Sirketi °y evelopmen
Property investment and
Emaar Libadiye Gayrimenkul Gelistirme Republic of Turkey development, development
« » h : 100.00%
A.S. (“Turkey”) of retail, shopping malls and
hospitality assets
Emaar Entertainment LLC UAE Le{sgrfz and entertainment 100.00%
activities
Emaar Hotels & Resorts Group UAE Proxfldmg hospitality 100.00%
services
Manarat Al Manzil Real Estate Kingdom of Saudi Property investment and 92.20%
Investment Limited (LLC) Arabia (“KSA”) development e
Emaar Misr for Development SAE Arab RiPUbhc,,Of Property investment and 88.96%
Egypt (“Egypt™) development
Retail development and
Emaar Malls PJSC . o
(formerly Emaar Malls Group PISC) UAE :::lnlaslgement of shopping 84.63%
. Kingdom of Saudi Property investment and o
Emaar Middle East LLC Arabia (“KSA™) development 61.00%
Emaar IGO S.A. Syrian ‘Arag) . Property investment and 60.00%
Republic (“Syria”) development
Dubai Hills Estate LLC UAE Froperty investment and 50.00%
development
Emaar MGF Land Limited India Property investment and 57.33%
development




Emaar Properties PJSC and its Subsidiaries |
NOTES TO THEE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)
At 31 December 2016

2.1  BASIS OF PREPARATION (continucd)

Basis of consolidation (continued)

Subsidiaries (continued)

On 28 June 2015, Emaar Misr for Development S.AE. (“Fmaar Misr”), a subsidiary of the Group incorporated and
operating in Egypt, issued an additional 600,000,000 ordinary shares (face value of EGP | per share) through a
primary offering of shares in an Initial Public Offering (“IPO"). Subsequent to the listing of shares on EGX, due to
volatility in the share market, the management of Emaar Misr, in accordance with laws and regulations, agreed to
buyback certain shares to assist in stabilising the share price through utilisation of the stabilisation fund created during
the IPO. Accordingly, on 4 August 2015, Emaar Misr bought back 90,000,000 shares representing 5% of the shares
issued during the IPO and refunded EGP 342,000 thousands (AED 164,633 thousands) to the applicants. After the
completion of buyback of the shares, the effective non-controlling interest for the Group in Emaar Misr is 1 1.04%.
During the year, the shares bought back by Emaar Misr were canceled.

Associated companies and joint ventures

Associated companies are companies in which the Group has significant influence, but not control, over the financial
and operating policies. Joint ventures are those entities over whose activities the Group has joint control, established
by contractual agrecment and requiring unanimous consent for strategic financial and operating decisions.

The Group’s investment in associated companies and joint ventures are accounted for using the equity method of
accounting. Under the equity method of accounting, investments in associated companies and joint ventures are
carried in the consolidated statement of financial position at cost, plus post-acquisition changes in the Group’s share
of net assets of the associated and Jjoint venture companies, less any impairment in value.

The consolidated income statement reflects the Group’s share of results of its associates and joint ventures. Unrealised
profits and losses resulting from transactions between the Group and associated companies and its joint ventures are
eliminated to the extent of the Group’s interest in the associated companies and joint ventures.

Special purpose entities

Special purpose entities are entities that are created to accomplish a narrow and well-defined objectives. The financial
information of special purpose entities is included in the Group’s consolidated financial statements where the
substance of the relationship is that the Group controls the special purpose entity and hence, they are accounted for
as subsidiaries.

2.2 SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING JUDGMENTS, ESTIMATES AND ASSUMPTIONS

The preparation of these consolidated financial statements requires management to make Jjudgments, estimates and
assumptions that affect the reported amounts of revenues, expenses, assets and liabilities, and the accompanying
disclosures and the disclosure of contingent liabilities at the reporting date. Uncertainty about these assumptions and

affected in future periods.

Estimates and their underlying assumptions are reviewed on an ongoing basis. Revisions to accounting estimates are
recognised in the period in which the estimates are revised.

The key judgments and estimates and assumptions that have a significant impact on the consolidated financial
statements of the Group are discussed below:

Judgments

Satisfaction of performance obligations

The Group is required to assess each of its contracts with customers to determine whether performance obligations
are satisfied over time or at a point in time in order to determine the appropriate method of recognising revenue. The
Group has assessed that based on the sale and purchase agreements entered into with customers and the provisions
of relevant laws and regulations, where contracts are entered into to provide real estate assets to customer, the Group
does not create an asset with an alternative use to the Group and usually has an enforceable right to payment for
performance completed to date. In these circumstances the Group recognises revenue over time. Where this is not
the case revenue is recognised at a point in time.

Determination of transaction prices

The Group is required to determine the transaction price in respect of each of its contracts with customers. In making
such judgment the Group assesses the impact of any variable consideration in the contract, due to discounts or
penalties, the existence of any significant financing component in the contract and any non-cash consideration in the
contract.
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Emaar Propertics PJSC and its Subsidiaries | -
NOTLES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)
At 31 December 2016

2.2 SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING JUDGMENTS, ESTIMATES AND ASSUMPTIONS (continued)

Judgments (continued)

Determination of transaction prices (continued)

In determining the impact of variable consideration the Group uses the “most-likely amount” method in IFRS 15
whereby the transaction price is determined by reference to the single most likely amount in a range of possible
consideration amounts.

Revenue recognition for leases

Rental income arising from operating leases on investment properties is recognised, net of discount, in accordance
with the terms of lease contracts over the lease term on a straight line basis, except where an alternative basis is more
representative of the pattern of benefits to be derived from the leased asset.

Revenue recognition for turnover rent

The Group recognises income from turnover rent on the basis of audited turnover reports submitted by the tenants. In
the absence of audited reports, management makes its own assessment about the tenants achieving or exceeding the
stipulated turnover in the lease contracts based on their historical performance.

Investment properties
The Group has elected to adopt the cost model for investment properties. Accordingly, investment properties are
carried at cost less accumulated depreciation and any accumulated impairment losses.

Classification of investment properties

The Group determines whether a property qualifies as investment property in accordance with IAS 40 /nvesiment
Property. In making its Judgment, the Group considers whether the property generates cash flows largely
independently of the other assets held by the Group. The Group has determined that hotels and serviced apartment
buildings owned by the Group are to be classified as part of property, plant and equipment rather than investment
properties since the Group also operates these assets.

Transfer of real estate assets Jrom property, plant and equipment to development properties

The Group sells real estate assets in its ordinary course of business. When the real estate assets which were previously
classified as property, plant and equipment are identified for sale in the ordinary course of business, then the assets
are transferred to development properties at their carrying value at the date of identification and become held for sale,

Operaling lease commitments - Group as lessor

The Group has entered into commercial and retail property leases on its investment property portfolio. The Group has
determined, based on an evaluation of the terms and conditions of the arrangements, that it retains all the significant
risks and rewards of ownership of these properties and so accounts for the contracts as operating leases.

Classification of investments

Management designates at the time of acquisition of securities whether these should be classified as at fair value or
amortised cost. In judging whether investments in securities are classified as at fair value or amortised cost,
management has considered the detailed criteria for determination of such classification as set outin IFRS 9 Financial
Instruments.

Consolidation of subsidiaries
investee as per the criteria laid out by IFRS 10 Consolidated Financial Statements. The Group has evaluated,

amongst other things, its ownership interest, the contractual arrangements in place and its ability and the extent of its
involvement with the relevant activities of the investee entities to determine whether it controls the investee,
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Emaar Properties PJSC and its Subsidiaries
NOTLS TO THIE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)
At 31 December 2016

2.2 SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING JUDGMENTS, ESTIMATES AND ASSUMPTIONS (continued)

Estimations and assumptions

Valuation of investment properties

The Group hires the scrvices of third party profcssionally qualified valuers to obtain estimates of the market value of
investment propertics using recognised valuation techniques for the purposes of their impairment review and
disclosures in the consolidated financial statements,

Impairment of irade and other receivables

An estimate of the collectible amount of trade and other receivables is made when collection of the full amount is no
longer probable. For individually significant amounts, this estimation is performed on an individual basis. Amounts
which are not individually significant, but which arc past due, are assessed collectively and a provision applied
according to the length of time past due, based on historical recovery rates.

Useful lives of property, plant and equipment and investment properties
The Group’s management determines the estimated useful lives of its property, plant and equipment and investment

Allocation of transaction price to performance obligation in contracts with customers

The Group has elected to apply the input method in allocating the transaction price to performance obligations where
revenue is recognised over time. The Group considers that the use of the input method, which requires revenue
recognition on the basis of the Group’s efforts to the satisfaction of the performance obligation, provides the best
reference of revenue actually earned. In applying the input method the Group estimates the cost to complete the

infrastructure, potential claims by contractors as evaluated by the project consultant and the cost of meeting other
contractual obligations to the customers,

Cost to complete the projects

The Group estimates the cost to complete the projects in order to determine the cost attributable to revenue being
recognised. These estimates include the cost of providing infrastructure, potential claims by contractors as evaluated
by the project consultant and the cost of meeting other contractual obligations to the customers.

Taxes
The Group is subject to income and capital gains taxes in certain jurisdictions. Significant judgment is required to
determine the total provision for current and deferred taxes. The Group establishes provisions, based on reasonable

Impairment of non-financial assets

The Group assesses whether there are any indicators of impairment for all non-financial assets at each reporting date.
The non-financial assets are tested for impairment when there are indicators that the carrying amounts may not be
recoverable. When value in use calculations are undertaken, management estimates the expected future cash flows

Fair value measurement of financial instruments
When the fair values of financial assets and financial liabilities recorded in the statement of financial position cannot
be measured based on quoted prices in active markets, their fair value is measured using valuation techniques including
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Emaar Properties PJSC and its Subsidiaries -
NOTES TO THIE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)
AL 31 December 2016

2.3 CHANGES IN THE ACCOUNTING POLICIES AND DISCLOSURES

(a) New standards, interpretations and amendments adopted by the Group

The accounting policies adopted in the preparation of the consolidated financial statements are consistent with those
followed in the preparation of the Group’s annual consolidated financial statements for the year ended 31 December
2015, except for the adoption of new standards, interpretations and amendments cffective as of | January 2016.
Although these new standards and amendments apply for the first time in 2016, they do not have a material impact
on the consolidated financial statements of the Group. The nature and the impact of each new standard or amendment
is described below:

IFRS 14 Regulatory Deferral Accounts
IFRS 14 is an optional standard that allows an cntity, whose activities arc subject to rate-regulation, to continue
applying most of its existing accounting policies for regulatory deferral account balances upon its first-time adoption
of IFRS. IFRS 14 is effective for annual periods beginning on or after | January 2016. Since the Group is an existing
IFRS preparer and is not involved in any rate-regulated activities, this standard does not apply.

Amendments to IFRS 11 Joint Arrangements: Accounting for Acquisitions of Interests
The amendments to IFRS |1 require that a joint operator accounting for the acquisition of an interest in a joint

Amendments to IAS 16 and IAS 38: Clarification of Acceptable Methods of Depreciation and Amortisation

The amendments clarify the principle in IAS 16 Property, Plant and Equipment and 1AS 38 Intangible Assets that
revenue reflects a pattern of economic benefits that are generated from operating a business (of which the asset is a
part) rather than the economic benefits that are consumed through use of the asset. The amendments are effective

Amendments to IAS 16 and IAS 41 Agriculture: Bearer Plants

The amendments change the accounting requirements for biological assets that meet the definition of bearer plants.
Under the amendments, biological assets that meet the definition of bearer plants will no longer be within the scope
of IAS 41 Agriculture. Instead, 1AS 16 will apply. The amendments are retrospectively effective for annual periods
beginning on or after | January 2016, with early adoption permitted. These amendments do not have any impact on
the Group as the Group does not have any bearer plants,

Amendments to IAS 27; Equity Method in Separate Financial Statements
The amendments will allow entities to use the equity method to account for investments in subsidiaries, joint ventures
and associates in their separate financial statements. Entities already applying IFRS and electing to change to the

Annual Improvements 2012-2014 Cycle
These improvements are effective for annual periods beginning on or after | January 2016. They include:

* IFRS 5 Non-current Assets Held for Sale and Discontinued Operations

* IFRS 7 Financial Instruments: Disclosures

* IAS 19 Employee Benefits

® IAS 34 Interim Financial Reporting

° Amendments to IAS | Disclosure Initiative

* Amendments to IFRS 10, IFRS 12 and IAS 28 Investment Entities: Applying the Consolidation Exception

These amendments do not have any impact on the Group.
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Emaar Properties PJSC and its Subsidiaries | B
NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)
AL 31 December 2016

2.3 CHANGES IN THE ACCOUNTING POLICIES AND DISCLOSURES (continued)

(b) Standards, amendments and interpretations in issue but not effective

At the date of authorisation of these consolidated financial statements, other than the standards and interpretations
adopted by the Group (as described above) the following standards, amendments and interpretations were in issue but
not yct cffective.

IAS 12 Amendments to 1AS 12 Disclosure of interest in other entities (Recognition of Deferred Tax Assets
for Unrealised Losses) (effective for annual periods beginning | January 2017);

IAS 7 Amendments to 1AS 7 Statement of Cash Flows (Disclosure Initiative) (effective for annual periods
beginning | January 2017);

IFRS10, Sale or Contribution of Assets between an Investor and its Associate or Joint Venture (The IASB has

IAS 28 deferred the effective date of these amendments indefinitely, but an entity that early adopts the

amendments must apply them prospectively);

IFRS 2 Amendment to IFRS 2 Share-based Payment
(Classification and Measurement of Share-based Payment Transactions (effective for annual periods
beginning on or after | January 2018); and

IFRS 16 Leases: Lessees required to recognise a lease liability for the obligation to make lease payments and
a right-of-use asset for the right to use the underlying asset for the lease term (effective for annual
periods beginning on or after | January 2019),

The Group is currently assessing the impact of IFRS 16 Leases, which will be adopted to the extent applicable to the
Group. Other than the potential impact, if any, of this standard the Group does not expect the adoption of the above
new standards, amendments and interpretations to have a material impact on the future consolidated financial
statements of the Group.

2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

Revenue recognition
The Group has elected to early adopt IFRS 15 with effect from | January 2015. As a result of early adoption, the
Group has applied the following accounting policy in the preparation of its consolidated financial statements,

Revenue from contracts with customers Jor sale of properties
The Group recognises revenue from contracts with customers based on a five step model as set out in IFRS 15:

Step I. Identify the contract(s) with a customer: A contract is defined as an agreement between two or more parties

Step 2. Identify the performance obligations in the contract: A performance obligation is a promise in a contract
with a customer to transfer a good or service to the customer.

Step 3. Determine the transaction price: The transaction price is the amount of consideration to which the Group
expects to be entitled in exchange for transferring promised goods or services to a customer, excluding
amounts collected on behalf of third parties,

Step 4. Allocate the transaction price to the performance obligations in the contract: For a contract that has more
than one performance obligation, the Group will allocate the transaction price to each performance
obligation in an amount that depicts the amount of consideration to which the Group expects to be entitled
in exchange for satisfying each performance obligation.

Step 5. Recognise revenue when (or as) the entity satisfies a performance obligation,

The Group satisfies a performance obligation and recognises revenue over time, if one of the following criteria is
met:

1. The customer simultaneously receives and consumes the benefits provided by the Group’s performance as the
Group performs; or

2. The Group’s performance creates or enhances an asset that the customer controls as the asset is created or
enhanced; or

3. The Group’s performance does not create an asset with an alternative use to the Group and the entity has an
enforceable right to payment for performance completed to date.

For performance obligations where one of the above conditions are not met, revenue is recognised at the point in time
at which the performance obligation is satisfied.
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24  SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

Revenne recognition (continued)

Revenue from contracts with customers for sale of properties (continued)

When the Group satisfics a performance obligation by delivering the promised goods or services it creates a contract
assct based on the amount of consideration carned by the performance. Where the amount of consideration received
from a customer exceeds the amount of revenuc recognised this gives rise to a contract liability.

Revenue is measured at the fair value of the consideration received or receivable, taking into account contractually
defined terms of payment and excluding taxes and duty. The Group assesscs its revenue arrangements against specific
criteria to determine if it is acting as principal or agent. The Group has concluded that it is acting as a principal in all
of its revenue arrangements,

Revenue is recognised in the consolidated income statement to the extent that it is probable that the economic benefits
will flow to the Group and the revenue and costs, if applicable, can be measured reliably.

Lease to buy scheme

Sales under the lease to buy scheme are accounted for as follows:

* Rental income during the period of lease is accounted for on a straight-line basis until such time the lessee
exercises its option to purchase;

®  When the lessee exercises its option to purchase, a sale is recognised in accordance with the revenue recognition
policy for sale of property as stated above; and

*  When recognising the sale, revenue is the amount payable by the lessee at the time of exercising the option to
acquire the property.

Rental income from lease of investment property

Rental income arising from operating leases on investment properties is recognised, net of discount, in accordance
with the terms of lease contracts over the lease term on a straight-line basis, except where an alternative basis is more
representative of the pattern of benefits to be derived from the leased asset.

Interest income

Interest income is recognised as the interest accrues using the effective interest method, under which the rate used
exactly discounts estimated future cash receipts through the expected life of the financial asset to the net carrying
amount of the financial asset,

Services

Revenue from rendering of services is recognised when the outcome of the transaction can be estimated reliably, by
reference to the stage of completion of the transaction at the reporting date. Where the outcome cannot be measured
reliably, revenue is recognised only to the extent that the expenses incurred are eligible to be recovered.

Customer loyalty programme
Within the hospitality segment, the Group operates a loyalty points programme, ‘U by Emaar’, which allows

Borrowing costs

Borrowing costs directly attributable to the acquisition, construction or production of qualifying assets, which are
assets that necessarily take a substantial period of time to get ready for their intended use or sale, are added to the cost
of those assets, until such time as the assets are substantially ready for their intended use or sale.

All other borrowing costs are recognised in the consolidated income Statement in the year in which they are incurred.
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2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

Income tax
Taxation is provided in accordance with the relevant fiscal regulations of the countries in which the Group operates.

Current tax is the expected tax payable on the taxable income for the year, using tax rates enacted or substantially
cnacted as at the reporting date, and any adjustments to the tax payable in respect of prior years.

Income tax relating to items recognised directly in other comprehensive income or equity is recognised directly in
other comprehensive income or equity and not in the consolidated income statement.

Deferred income tax is provided, using the liability method, on all temporary differences at the reporting date between
the tax bases of assets and liabilitics and their carrying amounts for financial reporting purpose at the reporting date.

Deferred income tax assets and liabilities are measured at the tax rates that are expected to apply to the period when
the asset is realised or the liability is settled, based on laws that have been enacted as at the reporting date.

Deferred income tax assets are recognised for all deductible temporary differences and carry-forward of unused tax
assets and unused tax losses to the extent that it is probable that taxable profit will be available against which the
deductible temporary differences and the carry-forward of unused tax assets and unused tax losses can be utilised,
except:

*  when the deferred tax asset relating to the deductible temporary difference arises from the initial recognition of
an asset or liability in a transaction that is not a business combination and, at the time of the transaction, affects
neither the accounting profit nor taxable profit or loss;

* inrespect of deductible temporary differences associated with investments in subsidiaries, associates and interests
in joint ventures, deferred tax assets are recognised only to the extent that it is probable that the temporary
differences will reverse in the foreseeable future and taxable profit will be available against which the temporary
differences can be utilised.

The carrying amount of deferred income tax assets is reviewed at each reporting date and reduced to the extent that
it is no longer probable that sufficient taxable profit will be available to allow all or part of the deferred income tax
asset to be utilised. Unrecognised deferred tax assets are re-assessed at each reporting date and are recognised to the
extent that it has become probable that future taxable profits will allow the deferred tax assets to be recovered.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are measured at the tax rates that are expected to apply in the year when the asset is
realised or liability is settled, based on tax rates that have been enacted at the reporting date.

Deferred tax assets and deferred tax liabilities are offset ifa legally enforceable right exists to set off current tax assets
against current tax liabilities and the deferred taxes relate to the same taxable entity and the same taxation authority.

Property, plant and equipment
Property, plant and equipment are stated at cost less accumulated depreciation and any impairment in value.
Depreciation is calculated on a straight-line basis over the estimated useful lives as follows:

Leasehold improvements 2 - 15 years
Sales centers (included in land and buildings) | -5 years
Buildings 10 - 45 years
Computers and office equipment 2 - 5 years
Plant, machinery and heavy equipment 3 - 20 years
Motor vehicles 3 -5 years
Furniture and fixtures 2 - 10 years
Leisure, entertainment and other assets 2 - 25 years

No depreciation is charged on land and capital work-in-progress. The useful lives and depreciation method are
reviewed periodically to ensure that the method and period of depreciation are consistent with the expected pattern of
economic benefits from these assets.
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2.4  SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

Property, plant and cquipment (continued)

Expenditure incurred to replace a component of an item of property, plant and equipment that is accounted for
separately is capitalised and the carrying amount of the component that is replaced is written off. Other subsequent
expenditure is capitalised only when it increases future economic benefits of the related item of property, plant and
equipment. All other expenditure is recognised in the consolidated income statement as the expense is incurred.

Property, plant and equipment are reviewed for impairment whenever events or changes in circumstances indicate
that the carrying amount of property, plant and equipment may not be recoverable. Whenever the carrying amount of
property, plant and equipment exceeds their recoverable amount, an impairment loss is recognised in the consolidated
income statement. The recoverable amount is the higher of fair value less costs to sell of property, plant and equipment
and the value in use. The fair value less costs to sell is the amount obtainable from the sale of property, plant and
cquipment in an arm’s length transaction while value in use is the present value of estimated future cash flows
cxpected to arise from the continuing use of property, plant and equipment and from its disposal at the end of its
useful life.

Reversal of impairment losses recognised in the prior years are recorded when there is an indication that the
impairment losses recognised for the property, plant and equipment no longer exist or have reduced.

Investment properties

Properties held for rental or capital appreciation purposes are classified as investment properties. Investment
properties are measured at cost less any accumulated depreciation and any accumulated impairment losses.
Depreciation is charged on a straight-line basis over the estimated useful lives as follows:

Buildings 10 - 45 years
Furniture, fixtures and others 4 - 10 years
Plant and equipment 3-10 years

No depreciation is charged on land and capital work-in-progress.

The useful lives and depreciation method are reviewed periodically to ensure that the method and period of
depreciation are consistent with the expected pattern of economic benefits from these assets.

Properties are transferred from investment properties to development properties when and only when, there is a
change in use, evidenced by commencement of development with a view to sell. Such transfers are made at the
carrying value of the properties at the date of transfer.

Reversal of impairment losses recognised in the prior years is recorded when there is an indication that the impairment
losses recognised for the investment property no longer exist or have reduced.

Development properties
Properties acquired, constructed or in the course of construction for sale in the ordinary course of business are
classified as development properties and are stated at the lower of cost or net realisable value. Cost includes:

°  Freehold and leasehold rights for land;
Amounts paid to contractors for construction; and

® Borrowing costs, planning and design costs, costs of site preparation, professional fees for legal services,
property transfer taxes, construction overheads and other related costs.

Net realisable value is the estimated selling price in the ordinary course of the business, based on market prices at
the reporting date and discounted for the time value of money if material, less costs to completion and the estimated
costs of sale,
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Development properties (continued)

The cost of development properties recognised in the consolidated income statement on sale is determined with
reference to the specific costs incurred on the property sold and an allocation of any non-specific costs based on the
relative sizc of the property sold.

The management reviews the carrying values of the development properties on an annual basis.

Inventories

Inventorics represent consumables and other goods relating to hospitality and retail business segments of the Group.
Inventories are stated at the lower of cost and net realisable value with due allowance for any obsolete or slow moving
items.

Costs are those expenses incurred in bringing each product to its present location and condition on a weighted average
cost basis. Net realisable value is based on estimated selling price less any further costs expected to be incurred on
disposal,

Investment in associates and joint ventures

An associate is an entity over which the Group has significant influence. Significant influence is the power to
participate in the financial and operating policy decisions of the investee, but is not control or joint control over those
policies.

A joint venture is a type of joint arrangement whereby the parties that have joint control of the arrangement have
rights to the net assets of the joint venture. Joint control is the contractually agreed sharing of control of an
arrangement, which exists only when decisions about the relevant activities require unanimous consent of the parties
sharing control.

The Group’s investments in its associates and joint ventures are accounted for using the equity method.

Under the equity method, the investment in the associates and joint venture is initially recognised at cost. The carrying
amount of the investment is adjusted to recognise changes in the Group’s share of net assets of the associate or joint
venture since the acquisition date, Goodwill relating to the associates or joint venture is included in the carrying
amount of the investment and is neither amortised nor individually tested for impairment.

The consolidated income statement reflects the Group’s share of the results of operations of its associates and joint
venture after tax and non-controlling in the subsidiaries of the associate. Where there has been a change recognised
directly in the other comprehensive income or equity of an associate, the Group recognises its share of any changes,
when applicable, in the consolidated statement of comprehensive income or the consolidated statement of changes in
equity. Unrealised gains and losses resulting from transactions between the Group and its associates or joint ventures
are eliminated to the extent of the interest in the associate or joint venture,

The financial statement of the associates and joint venture are prepared for the same reporting period as the Group.
When necessary, adjustments are made to bring the accounting policies in line with those of the Group.

After application of the equity method, the Group determines whether it is necessary to recognise an impairment loss
on its investment in its associates or joint venture. At each reporting date, the Group determines whether there is any
objective evidence that the investment in the associate or Joint venture is impaired. If this is the case, the Group
calculates the amount of impairment as the difference between the recoverable amount of the associate or joint
venture, and its carrying value and recognises the impairment losses in the consolidated income statement.

Upon loss of significant influence over the associate or joint control over the joint venture, the Group measures and
recognises any retained investment at its fair value. Any differences between the carrying amount of the associate or
Joint venture upon loss of significant influence and the fair value of the retained investment and proceeds from
disposal is recognised in the consolidated income statement. When the remaining investment in joint venture
constitutes significant influence, it is accounted for as an investment in associate.
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Derivative financial instruments

The Group enters into derivative financial instruments lo manage its exposure to interest rate risk and foreign
exchange rate risk, including forcign exchange forward contracts. Derivatives are initially recognised at fair value at
the date the derivative contract is entered into and are subsequently remeasured to their fair value at the end of each
reporting date. The resulting gain or loss is recognised in the consolidated income statement immediately, unless the
derivative is designated and effective as a hedging instrument, in which event the timing of the recognition in the
consolidated income statement depends on the nature of the hedge relationship. The Group designates derivatives as
hedges of interest rate risk and foreign currency risk of firm commitments (cash flow hedges).

A derivative with a positive fair value is recognised as a financial asset; a derivative with a negative fair value is
recognised as a financial liability.

Hedge accounting

The Group designates certain hedging instruments as either fair value hedges or cash flow hedges. Hedges of interest
rate risk and foreign exchange risk on firm commitments are accounted for as cash flow hedges. At the inception of
the hedge relationship, the Group documents the relationship between the hedging instrument and the hedged item,
along with its risk management objectives and its strategy for undertaking various hedge transactions. Furthermore,
at the inception of the hedge and on an ongoing basis, the Group documents whether the hedging instrument is highly
effective in offsetting changes in fair values or cash flows of the hedged item.

Fair value hedges

Changes in the fair value of derivatives that are designated and qualify as fair value hedges are recognised in the
consolidated income statement immediately, together with any changes in the fair value of the hedged asset or liability
that are attributable to the hedged risk. The change in the fair value of the hedging instrument and the change in the
hedged item attributable to the hedged risk are recognised in the line of the consolidated statement of comprehensive
income relating to the hedged item.

Hedge accounting is discontinued when the Group revokes the hedging relationship, when the hedging instrument
expires or is sold, terminated, or exercised, or when it no longer qualifies for hedge accounting. The fair value
adjustment to the carrying amount of the hedged item arising from the hedged risk is amortised to the consolidated
income statement from that date,

Cash flow hedges

The effective portion of changes in the fair value of derivatives that are designated and qualify as cash flow hedges
are recognised in the consolidated statement of comprehensive income. The gain or loss relating to the ineffective
portion is recognised immediately in the consolidated income statement. Amounts previously recognised in the
consolidated statement of comprehensive income and accumulated in equity are reclassified to the consolidated
income statement in the periods when the hedged item is recognised in the consolidated income statement, in the
same line of the consolidated statement of comprehensive income as the recognised hedged item. However, when the
forecast transaction that is hedged results in the recognition of a non-financial asset or a non-financial liability, the
gains and losses previously accumulated in equity are transferred from equity and included in the initial measurement
of the cost of the non-financial asset or non-financial liability.

Hedge accounting is discontinued when the Group revokes the hedging relationship, when the hedging instrument
expires or is sold, terminated, or exercised, or it no longer qualifies for hedge accounting. Any gain or loss
accumulated in equity at that time remains in equity and is recognised when the forecast transaction is ultimately
recognised in the consolidated income statement. When a forecast transaction is no longer expected to occur, the gain
or loss accumulated in equity is recognised immediately in the consolidated income statement.

Financial assets

All financial assets are recognised and derecognised on trade date when the purchase or sale of a financial asset is
made under a contract whose terms require delivery of the financial asset within the timeframe established by the
market concerned. Financial assets are initially measured at cost, plus transaction costs, except for those financial
assets classified as at fair value through other comprehensive income or profit or loss, which are initially measured at
fair value. All recognised financial assets are subsequently measured in their entirety at either amortised cost or fair
value.

28




Emaar Properties PJSC and its Subsidiaries
NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)
At 31 December 2016
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Financial assets (continued)

The fair value of financial instruments that arc actively traded in organised financial markets is determined by
reference to quoted market bid prices for assets and offer prices for liabilities, at the close of business on the reporting
date. If quoted market prices are not available, reference can also be made to broker or dealer price quotations.

The fair value of floating rate and overnight deposits with credit institutions is their carrying value. The carrying value
is the cost of the deposit and accrued interest. The fair value of fixed interest-bearing deposits is estimated using
discounted cash flow techniques. Expected cash flows are discounted at current market rates for similar instruments
at the reporting date.

Classification of financial assets

For the purposcs of classifying financial asscts, an instrument is an ‘equity instrument’ if it is a non-derivative and
meets the definition of ‘equity’ for the issuer (under 1AS 32: Financial Instruments: Presentation) except for certain
non-derivative puttable instruments presented as equity by the issuer. All other non-derivative financial assets are
‘debt instruments’.

Lquity investments

All financial assets that are equity investments are measured at fair value either through other comprehensive income
or through profit or loss. This is an irrevocable choice that the Group has made on early adoption of IFRS 9 - Phase
I or will make on subsequent acquisition of equity investments unless the equity investments are held for trading, in
which case, they must be measured at fair value through profit or loss. Gain or loss on disposal of equity investments
is not recycled. Dividend income for all equity investments is recorded through the consolidated income statement.

Debt instruments
Debt instruments are also measured at fair value through profit or loss unless they are classified at amortised cost.
They are classified at amortised cost only if:

* the asset is held within a business model whose objective is to hold the asset to collect the contractual cash
flows; and

* the contractual terms of the debt instrument give rise, on specified dates, to cash flows that are solely
payments of principal and interest on the principal outstanding.

Cash and cash equivalents
For the purpose of the statement of cash flows, cash and cash equivalents consist of cash in hand, bank balances and
short-term deposits with an original maturity of three months or less, net of outstanding bank overdrafts,

Trade and unbilled receivables

Trade and unbilled receivables are stated at original invoice amount less a provision for any uncollectible amounts.
An estimate for doubtful debts is made when collection of the full amount is no longer probable. When trade and
unbilled receivables are uncollectible, it is written off against provision for doubtful debts. Subsequent recoveries of
amounts previously written off are credited to the consolidated income statement.

Foreign exchange gains and losses

The fair value of financial assets denominated in a foreign currency is determined in that foreign currency and
translated at the spot rate at the end of the reporting period. The foreign exchange component forms part of its fair
value gain or loss. For financial assets classified as at fair value through profit or loss, the foreign exchange component
is recognised in the consolidated income statement. For financial assets designated at fair value through other
comprehensive income any foreign exchange component is recognised in the consolidated statement of
comprehensive income. For foreign currency denominated debt instruments classified at amortised cost, the foreign
exchange gains and losses are determined based on the amortised cost of the asset and are recognised in the ‘other
gains and losses’ line item in the consolidated income statement.
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Finaucial assets (continued)
Derecognition of financial assets
A financial asset (or, when applicable, a part of a financial asset or part of a group of similar financial assets) is
derecognised when:
®  The rights to reccive cash flows from the asset have expired,
®  The Group retains the right to reccive cash flows from the asset, but has assumed an obligation to pay them
in full without material dclay to a third party under a ‘pass-through’ arrangement,
®  The Group has transferred its rights to reccive cash flows from the asset and either:
- has transferred substantially all the risks and rewards of the asset, or
- hasncither transferred nor retained substantially all the risks and rewards of the asset, but has transferred
control of the asset.

When the Group has transferred its right to receive cash flows from an asset or has entered into a pass-through
arrangement, it evaluates if and to what extent it has retained the risks and rewards of ownership. When it has neither
transferred nor retained substantially all the risks and rewards of the asset nor transferred control of the asset, the asset

Impairment of financial assets

The Group assesses at each reporting date whether there is any objective evidence that a financial asset or a group of
financial assets is impaired. A financial asset or a group of financial assets is deemed to be impaired if, and only if,
there is objective evidence of impairment as a result of one or more events that has occurred after the initial recognition
of the asset (an incurred ‘loss event’) and that loss event has an impact on the estimated future cash flows of the
financial asset or the group of financial assets that can be reliably estimated. Evidence of impairment may include
indications that the debtors or a group of debtors is experiencing significant financial difficulty, default or delinquency

If there is objective evidence that an impairment loss has been incurred, the amount of the loss is measured as the
difference between the financial assets carrying amount and the present value of estimated future cash flows. The
present value of the estimated future cash flows is discounted at the financial assets original effective interest rate. If
a financial asset has a variable interest rate, the discount rate for measuring any impairment loss is the current effective
interest rate.

For financial assets carried at amortised cost, the carrying amount is reduced through the use of an allowance account
and the amount of the loss is recognised in the consolidated income statement. Interest income on such financial assets

to the asset. In determining fair value less costs to sell, an appropriate valuation model is used. These calculations are
corroborated by valuation multiples, quoted share prices for publicly traded entities or other available fair value
indicators.
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24 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

Impairment of non-financial assets (continued)
Impairment losscs of continuing operations are recognised in the consolidated income statement in those expense
categories consistent with the function of the impaired assel.

For assets excluding goodwill, an assessment is made at each reporting date as to whether there is any indication that
previously recognised impairment losses may no longer cxist or may have decreased. If such indication exists, the
Group estimates the asset's or cash-generating unit's recoverable amount. A previously recognised impairment loss is
reversed only if there has been a change in the assumptions used to determine the asset's recoverable amount since
the last impairment loss was recognised. The reversal is limited so that the carrying amount of the asset does not
exceed its recoverable amount, nor exceed the carrying amount that would have been determined, net of depreciation,
had no impairment loss been recognised for the asset in prior years. Such reversal is recognised in the consolidated
income statement,

Financial liabilitics and cquity instruments issued by the Group

Debt and equity instruments are classified as either financial liabilities or as equity instruments in accordance with
the substance of the contractual agreements. Financial liabilities within the scope of IFRS 9 are classified as financial
liabilities at fair value through profit or loss, loans and borrowings, or as derivative instrument as appropriate. The
Group determines the classification of its financial liabilities at the initial recognition,

Trade and other payables
Liabilities are recognised for amounts to be paid in the future for goods or services received, whether billed by the
supplier or not.

Loans and borrowings
Term loans are initially recognised at the fair value of the consideration received less directly attributable transaction
costs,

After initial recognition, interest-bearing loans and borrowings are subsequently measured at amortised cost using the
effective interest rate method. Gains and losses are recognised in the consolidated income statement when the
liabilities are derecognised as well as through the amortisation process.

Sukuk

The sukuk are stated at amortised cost using the effective profit rate method. Profit attributable to the sukuk is
calculated by applying the prevailing market profit rate, at the time of issue, for similar sukuk instruments and any
difference with the profit distributed is added to the carrying amount of the sukuk.

Other financial liabilities
Other financial liabilities are initially measured at fair value, net of transaction costs and are subsequently measured
at amortised cost using the effective interest method, with interest expense recognised on an effective yield basis.

The effective interest method is a method of calculating the amortised cost of a financial liability and of allocating
interest expense over the relevant period. The effective interest rate is the rate that exactly discounts estimated future
cash payments through the expected life of the financial liability, or, where appropriate, a shorter period.

Derecognition of financial liabilities

The Group derecognises financial liabilities when, and only when, the Group’s obligations are discharged, cancelled
or they expire. Where an existing financial liability is replaced by another from the same lender on substantially
different terms, or the terms of an existing liability are substantially modified, then the difference in the respective
carrying amounts is recognised in the consolidated income statement.

Offsetting of financial instruments

Financial assets and financial liabilities are offset and the net amount is reported in the consolidated statement of
financial position if there is a currently enforceable legal right to offset the recognised amounts and there is an
intention to settle on a net basis, to realise the assets and settle the liabilities simultaneously.
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Leases

The determination of whether an arrangement is, or contains a lease is based on the substance of the arrangement at
inception date and whether the fulfilment of the arrangement is dependent on the use of a specific asset or assets or
the arrangement conveys a right to usc the assct.

Group as a lessee

Leases in which a significant portion of the risks and rewards of ownership are retained by the lessor, are classified
as operating leascs. Payments, including prepayments, made under operating leases (net of any incentives received
from the Icssor) arc charged to the consolidated income statement in accordance with the terms of the lease contracts
over the lease term based on a systematic basis as this method is more representative of the time pattern in which use
of benefit are derived from the leased asscls.

Group as a lessor
The Group has entered into leascs on its investment property portfolio. The Group has determined, based on an

evaluation of the terms and conditions of the arrangements, that it retains all the significant risks and rewards of

consolidated income statement in accordance with the terms of the lease contracts over the lease term on a systematic
basis as this method is more representative of the time pattern in which use of benefit are derived from the leased
assets.

Business combinations and goodwill

Business combinations are accounted for using the acquisition method. The cost of an acquisition is measured as the
aggregate of the consideration transferred, measured at acquisition date fair value. For each business combination,
the acquirer measures the non-controlling interest in the acquiree either at fair value or at the proportionate share of
the acquiree’s identifiable net assets, Acquisition costs incurred are expensed.

When the Group acquires a business, it assesses the financial assets and liabilities assumed for appropriate
classification and designation in accordance with the contractual terms, economic circumstances and pertinent
conditions at fair value on the date of acquisition. This includes the separation of embedded derivatives in host
contracts by the acquiree.

or liability will be recognised in accordance with I[FRS 9 Financial Instruments in the consolidated statement of
comprehensive income. If the contingent consideration is classified as equity, it shall not be remeasured until it is
finally settled within equity.

Goodwill is initially measured at cost being the excess of the aggregate of the consideration transferred and the amount
recognised for non-controlling interest over the fair value of net identifiable tangible and intangible assets acquired
and liabilities assumed. If the consideration is lower than the fair value of the net assets of the subsidiary acquired,
the difference is recognised in the consolidated income statement. After initial recognition, goodwill is measured at
cost less any accumulated impairment losses. For the purpose of impairment testing, goodwill acquired in a business
combination is, from the acquisition date, allocated to each of the Group’s cash-generating units that are expected to
benefit from the combination, irrespective of whether other assets or liabilities of the acquiree are assigned to those

units.

Where goodwill forms part of a cash-generating unit and part of the operation within that unit is disposed of, the
goodwill associated with the operation disposed of is included in the carrying amount of the operation when
determining the gain or loss on disposal of the operation. Goodwill disposed of in this circumstance is measured based

on the relative values of the operation disposed of and the portion of the cash-generating unit retained.

Goodwill is tested for impairment annually as at the reporting date and when circumstances indicate that the carrying
value may be impaired.

Impairment is determined for goodwill by assessing the recoverable amount of each cash-generating unit to which
the goodwill relates. When the recoverable amount of the cash-generating unit is less than the carrying amount, an
impairment loss is recognised in the consolidated income statement. Impairment losses relating to goodwill cannot
be reversed in future periods.
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Contingent liabilities recognised in a business combination

A contingent liability recognised in a business combination is initially measured at its fair value. Subsequently, it is
measured at the higher of the amount that would be recognisced in accordance with the requirements for provisions
above or the amount initially recognised less (when appropriatc) cumulative amortisation recognised in accordance
with the requirements for revenue recognition.

End-of-service benefits

The Group provides end-of-service benefits to its employees. The entitlement to these benefits is usually based upon
the employces’ final salary and length of service, subject to the completion of a minimum service period. The expected
costs of these benefits are accrued over the period of employment,

With respect to its eligible UAE and GCC national employees, the Group makes contributions to a pension fund
established by the UAE General Pension and Social Security Authority calculated as a percentage of the employees’
salaries. The Group’s obligations are limited to these contributions, which are expensed when due.

Provisions

Provisions arc recognised when the Group has a legal or constructive obligation as a result of a past event, it is
probable that an outflow of resources embodying economic benefits will be required to settle the obligation, and the
amount can be reliably estimated. When the Group expects some or all of a provision to be reimbursed, the
reimbursement is recognised as a separate asset but only when the reimbursement is virtually certain. The expense
relating to any provision is presented in the consolidated income statement net of any reimbursement.

Provisions arc measured at the present value of the expenditures expected to be required to settle the obligation at the
end of the reporting period, using a rate that reflects current market assessments of the time value of money and the
risks specific to the obligation.

Provisions are reviewed at each statement of financial position date and adjusted to reflect the current best estimate.
If it is no longer probable that an outflow of resources embodying economic benefits will be required to settle the
obligation, the provision is reversed.

Share-based payment transactions

Employees (including senior executives) of the Group also receive remuneration in the form of share-based payment
transactions, whereby employees render services as consideration for equity instruments (“equity settled
transactions”). The cost of equity settled transactions with employees is measured by reference to the fair value at the
date at which the awards are granted. The cost of equity settled transactions with employees is recognised, together
with a corresponding increase in equity, over the period in which the performance conditions are fulfilled ending on
the date on which the employees become fully entitled to the award (“vesting date”). The cumulative expense
recognised for equity settled transactions at each reporting date until the vesting date reflects the extent to which the
vesting period has expired and the Group’s best estimate of the number of equity instruments that will ultimately vest.
The charge or credit to the consolidated income statement for a period represents the movement in cumulative expense
recognised as at the beginning and end of that period.

Under the Company’s policy, awards, which represent the right to purchase the Company’s ordinary shares at par,
are allocated to eligible employees (including executive directors) of the Company.

Foreign currency translations

The consolidated financial statements are presented in AED which is the functional currency of the Company. Each
entity in the Group determines its own functional currency and items included in the financial statements of each
entity are measured using that functional currency.

Transactions in foreign currencies are recorded in the functional currency at the rate ruling at the date of the
transaction. Monetary assets and liabilities denominated in foreign currencies are translated at the rate of exchange
ruling at the reporting date. All differences are taken to the consolidated income statement. Any goodwill arising on
the acquisition of a foreign operation and any fair value adjustments to the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities
arising on the acquisition are treated as assets and liabilities of the foreign operation and translated at the closing rate.

Non-monetary items that are measured in terms of historical cost in a foreign currency are translated using the
exchange rates at the dates of the initial transactions. Non-monetary items measured at fair value in a foreign currency
are translated using the exchange rates at the date when the fair value is determined. The gain or loss arising on
translation of non-monetary items measured at fair value is treated in line with the recognition of the gain or loss on
the change in fair value of the item,
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24 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

Foreign currency trauslations (continued)

As at the reporting date, the assets and liabilities of subsidiaries with functional currencies other than AED are
translated into AED at the rate of exchange ruling at the reporting date and their statements of income are translated
at the weighted average exchange rates for the year. The differences arising on the translation are taken directly to the
consolidated statement of comprehensive income. On disposal of an entity, the deferred cumulative amount
recognised in equity relating to that entity is recognised in the consolidated income statcment,

Contingencies

Contingent liabilities arc not recognised in the consolidated financial statements, They are disclosed unless the
possibility of an outflow of resources embodying cconomic benefits is remote, A contingent asset is not recognised
in the consolidated financial statements but disclosed when an inflow of economic benefits is probable.

Fair value measurement
The Group measures financial instruments, such as investment in securities and hedges, at fair value at each reporting
date.

Fair value is the price that would be received to sell an asset or paid to transfer a liability in an orderly transaction
between market participants at the measurement date. The fair value measurement is based on the presumption that
the transaction to sell the asset or transfer the liability takes place either in the principal market for the asset or liability
or the most advantageous market for the asset or liability,

The fair value of an asset or a liability is measured using the assumptions that market participants would use when
pricing the asset or liability, assuming that market participants act in their economic best interest.

A fair value measurement of a non-financial asset takes into account a market participant’s ability to generate
economic benefits by using the asset in its highest and best use or by selling it to another market participant that would
use the asset in its highest and best use.

For investments traded in an active market, fair value is determined by reference to quoted market bid prices.

The fair value of interest-bearing items is estimated based on discounted cash flows using interest rates for items with
similar terms and risk characteristics.

For unquoted equity investments, fair value is determined by reference to the market value of a similar investment or
is based on the expected discounted cash flows.

The fair value of forward foreign exchange contracts is calculated by reference to current forward exchange rates with
the same maturity.

Fair value of interest rate swap contract is determined by reference to market value for similar instruments,

The Group uses valuation techniques that are appropriate in the circumstances and for which sufficient data are
available to measure fair value, maximising the use of relevant observable inputs and minimising the use of
unobservable inputs.

All assets and liabilities for which fair value is measured or disclosed in the consolidated financial statements are
categorised within the fair value hierarchy, described as follows, based on the lowest level input that is significant to
the fair value measurement as a whole:

® Level 1 - Fair value measurements are those derived from quoted prices in an active market (that are
unadjusted) for identical assets or liabilities.

® Level 2 - Fair value measurements are those derived from inputs other than quoted prices included within
Level 1 that are observable for the asset or liability either directly (i.e. as prices) or indirectly (i.e. derived from
prices).

* Level 3 - Fair value measurements are those derived from valuation techniques that include inputs for the asset
or liability that are not based on observable market data (unobservable inputs).

For assets and liabilities that are recognised in the consolidated financial statements on a recurring basis, the Group
determines whether transfers have occurred between Levels in the hierarchy by re-assessing categorisation at the end
of each reporting period.

For the purpose of fair value disclosures, the Group has determined classes of assets and liabilities on the basis of the
nature, characteristics and risks of the asset or liability and the level of the fair value hierarchy as explained above.
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K SEGMENT INFORMATION

Management monitors the operating results of its business scgments separately for the purposc of making decisions
about resource allocation and performance assessment. Segment performance is evaluated based on operating profit
or loss and is measured consistently with operating profit or loss in the consolidated financial statements.

Business scgments

For management purposes, the Group is organiscd into three major segments, namely, real estate (develop and sell
condominiums, villas, commercial units and plots of land), leasing and related activities (develop, lease and manage
malls, retail, commercial and residential spaces) and hospitality (develop, own and/or manage hotels, serviced
apartments and Icisure activitics). Other scgments include businesses that individually do not meet the criteria for a
reportable segment as per IFRS 8 Operating Segments. Thesc businesses are property management and utility services
and investments in providers of financial services,

Revenue from sources other than property sales, leasing and related activities and hospitality are included in other
operating income.

Geographic segments

The Group is currently operating in number of countries outside the UAE and is engaged in development of several
projects which will have significant impact in future years. The domestic segment includes business activities and
operations in the UAE and the international segment includes business activities and operations outside the UAE,

Business segments
The following tables include revenue, contribution, and certain assets and liabilities information regarding business
segments for the years ended 31 December 2016 and 20 15.

Leasing and

related
Real estate activities Hospitality Others Total
AED’000 AED’000 AED’000 AED’000 AED’000
2016:
Revenue
Revenue from external customers
- Over a period of time 8,350,682 - - - 8,350,682
- Single point in time / leasing
revenue 1,214,924 4,535,998 1,438,100 - 7,189,022
9,565,606 4,535,998 1,438,100 - 15,539,704
Results
Contribution for the year 2,749,836 2,836,222 674,692 242,097 6,502,847
Unallocated selling, general and
administrative expenses (787,804)
Unallocated finance income, net 179,788
Profit before tax for the year 5,894,831
Assets and liabilities:
Segment assets 66,836,123 19,111,164 6,864,372 3,522,525 96,334,184
Segment liabilities 38,077,432 9,061,379 953,039 574,769 48,666,619
Other segment information
Capital expenditure
(property, plant and equipment
and investment properties) 176,042 2,093,964 901,374 32,981 3,204,361
Depreciation
(property, plant and equipment
and investment properties) 164,342 501,586 230,075 58,918 954,921
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3 SEGMENT INFORMATION (continued)

Business segments (continued)

2015;
Revenue
Revenue from external customers
- Over a period of time
- Single point in time / leasing
revenuc

Results
Contribution for the year

Unallocated selling, general and
administrative expenses
Unallocated finance income, net

Profit before tax for the year

Assets and liabilities:
Segment assets

Segment liabilities

Other segment information
Capital expenditure
(property, plant and equipment
and investment properties)

Depreciation
(property, plant and equipment
and investment properties)

Leasing and

CIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

related
Real estate activities Hospitality Others Total

AED 000 AED'000 AED'000 ALED'000 AED’000
6,508,705 - - - 6,508,705

1,363,980 4,111,160 1,676,691 - 7,151,831
7,872,685 4,111,160 1,676,691 - 13,660,536
2,514,767 2,478,067 13,647 173,724 5,180,205
(700,598)

55,736

4,535,343

53,059,250 16,843,336 6,238,309 3,415,899 79,556,794
27,475,431 8,957,077 686,145 517,009 37,635,662
87,667 931,975 1,367,847 6,610 2,394,099

140,419 456,593 243,940 60,059 901,011
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3 SEGMENT INFORMATION (continucd)

Geographic segments
The following tables include revenue and certain asset inform
31 December 2016 and 2015,

2016:

Revenuc

Revenue from external customers

- Over a period of time

- Single point in time / leasing revenue

Assets
Segment assets
Investments in associates and joint ventures

Total assets

Other segment information
Capital expenditure
(property, plant and equipment and investment properties)

2015

Revenue

Revenue from external customers

- Over a period of time

- Single point in time / leasing revenue

Assets
Segment assets
Investments in associates and joint ventures

Total assets
Other Segment Information

Capital expenditure
(property, plant and equipment and investment properties)

ation regarding geographic segments for the years ended

Domestic¢ International Total
AED'000 AED’000 AED’000
5,938,691 2,411,991 8,350,682
6,668,954 520,068 7,189,022
12,607,645 2,932,059 15,539,704
56,363,647 35,107,103 91,470,750
1,822,290 3,041,144 4,863,434
58,185,937 38,148,247 96,334,184
2,325,063 879,298 3,204,361
Domestic International Total
AED 000 AED’000 AED'000
4,027,710 2,480,995 6,508,705
6,853,299 298,532 7,151,831
10,881,009 2,779,527 13,660,536
50,155,862 22,704,002 72,859,864
1,831,282 4,865,648 6,696,930
51,987,144 27,569,650 79,556,794
2,348,399 45,700 2,394,099
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4 BUSINESS COMBINATIONS AND ASSETS HELD FOR SALE

(a)  Business combinations
L. Acquisition of Emaar MGF Land Limited

In May 2016, the Group filed a scheme of arrangement with the Delhi High Court in India for the demerger
(“demerger scheme”) of the opcrations of its associate, Emaar MGF Land Limited (“EMGF”), based on the agreement
reached between the Group and the other promoter group in EMGF. The demerger is part of the Group’s strategic
plan to implement a more focused strategy for its real cstate business in India and to allow it to undertake future
cxpansion stratcgics. Accordingly, on 18 May 2016, the original joint venture agreement and the memorandum and
articles of association of EMGF have been amended, resulting in the Group gaining control of the operations of
EMGF.

In addition to gaining control, the Group has also increased its equity stake in EMGF through transfer of ownership
of 7.68% from the other promoter group in EMGF to the Group in lieu of indemnitics given for loans provided as
agreed in the demerger scheme (note 14). This resulted in the Group increasing its ownership interest in EMGF from
48.86% t0 56.54%. The transaction has been accounted for using the acquisition method with effect from the date of
acquisition. The Group elected to measure the non-controlling interest in the acquiree at the proportionate share of its
interest in the acquiree’s identifiable net assets.

The resultant net gain from the above transactions of AED 9,247 thousands is included in other income in the
consolidated income statement.

Asscts acquired and liabilities assumed
The fair values of the identified assets and liabilities of EMGF as at the date of acquisition were:

Fair value

recognised
on acquisition

AED’000
Asscets
Property, plant and equipment (note 16) 125,871
Development propertics (note 12) 10,649,171
Investment properties (note 17) 22,388
Investment in securities 14,554
Bank balances and cash 105,304
Trade and unbilled receivables (i) 179,380
Other assets, receivables, deposits and prepayments 451,631
Assets held for sale (ii) 5,298,262
Total assets 16,846,561
Liabilities
Interest-bearing loans and borrowings 1,948,541
Retentions payable 49,467
Provision for employees' end-of-service benefits (note 24) 9,930
Trade and other payables (iii) 3,157,786
Advances from customers (note 20) 2,244,028
Non-controlling interests 113,694
Liabilities directly associated with assets classified as held for sale (ii) 2,609,578
Total liabilities 10,133,024
Total identifiable net assets at fair value 6,713,537
Non-controlling interests acquired (7.68 % of net assets at fair value) 515,600
Less: Purchase consideration transferred (note 14(ii)) 419,591
Gain arising on acquisition of non-controlling interests 96,009
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4 BUSINESS COMBINATIONS AND ASSETS HELD FOR SALE (continued)
(a)  Business combinations (continued)
1. Acquisition of Emaar MGF Land Limited (continued)

Assets acquired and liabilities assumed (continued)

AED’000
Analysis of cash flows on acquisition:
Net cash acquired with the subsidiary 105,304
Cash paid -
Net cash inflow on acquisition (includes cash and cash equivalents of AED 13,458 thousands
included in cash flows from investing activities in the consolidated statement of cash flows) 105,304

(i) The fair value and gross amount of the trade and unbilled receivables amounts to AED 179,380 thousands.
However, none of the trade and unbilled receivables have been impaired and it is expected that the full contractual
amounts can be collected.

(i) As part of the demerger scheme, the Group has agreed to transfer certain assets and liabilities directly associated
with those assets (the “EMGF disposal group”) to the other promoter group in EMGF. The board members of
EMGF approved the plan to transfer the EMGF disposal group, which is expected to be completed by 1 April
2017,

The major classes of assets and liabilities of the EMGF disposal group classified as held for sale as at 31
December 2016 are as follows:

31 December 2016

AED’000
Assets
Property, plant and equipment 282,850
Development properties 4,713,840
Other assets, receivables, deposits and prepayments 274,360
Total assets 5,271,050
Liabilities
Interest-bearing loans and borrowings 385,295
Trade and other payables 2,075,340
Advances from customers 156,954
Total liabilities 2,617,589
Net assets directly associated with the EMGF disposal group 2,653,461

Trade and other payables classified as held for sale include contingent liabilities amounting to AED 1,160,389
thousands assumed by the other promoter group in EMGF. There were no significant gains or losses recognised
in the consolidated income statement or in the consolidated statement of comprehensive income with respect to
the EMGF disposal group.

(iii) Trade and other payables assumed by the Group on acquisition of EMGF include the following:

(a) Deferred tax liabilities amounting to AED 2,199, 149 thousands arising from the fair value of assets acquired
and liabilities assumed in the business combination in accordance with IAS 12; and

(b) Contingent liabilities amounting to AED 23,362 thousands (note 19). The contingent liabilities at fair value
were recognised in accordance with IFRS 3, resulting from claims of tax authorities, customers and various
outstanding litigations pertaining to EMGF. These are subject to legal arbitration and are only expected to
be finalised in subsequent periods.

From the date of acquisition, EMGF contributed AED 151,377 thousands of revenue and AED 333,549 thousands of
net loss before tax from continuing operations of the Group. If the combination had taken place at the beginning of
the year, the Group revenue from continuing operations would have been AED 15,609,390 thousands and profit
before tax from continuing operations would have been AED 5,807,863 thousands.
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4 BUSINESS COMBINATIONS AND ASSETS HELD FOR SALE (continued)

(a)  Bnsiness combinations (continued)

I. Acquisition of Emaar MGF Land Limited (continued)

Acquisition of non-controlling interest in EMGF

On 17 November 2016, the Group acquired an additional 0.79% interest in EMGF, increasing its ownership interest
as at 31 December 2016 to 57.33%. Cash consideration of AED 27,053 thousands was paid to non-controlling

shareholders. The carrying value of the additional interest acquired was AED 52,690 thousands.

Following are the details of gain on acquisition of non-controlling interest in EMGF:

AED’000
Carrying value of the additional interest in EMGF (0.79% of net assets) 52,690
Cash consideration paid to non-controlling shareholders (27,053)
Foreign currency translation reserve reallocated within equity of the Parent (note 26) 344
Gain on acquisition of non-controlling interest recognised in retained earnings 25,981

2, Acquisition of Mirage Leisure and Development Inc.

On I October 2015 (the “acquisition date™), the Group acquired a 65% interest in the equity shares of Mirage Leisure
and Development Inc., ("MLD"), a company registered and incorporated on 3 June 1997 in accordance with the laws
of the British Virgin Islands (“BVI”). The principal business activity of the company is rendering development
management services, primarily in the UAE. Based on the contractual arrangements, the Group has significant
influence and not control, accordingly, the investment is accounted for using equity method of accounting,

The fair value of the identifiable assets and liabilities of MLD as at the date of acquisition were:

I October 2015

AED 000
Assets
Property, plant and equipment 295
Trade receivables 65,983
Other receivables 112,963
Due from related parties 3,320
Bank balances and cash 34,926
217,487
Liabilities
Provision for employees’ end of service benefits 6,784
Trade and other payables 195,193
Due to related parties 264
202,241
Net assets 15,246
Emaar’s share of net assets at acquisition (65%) 9,910
Goodwill arising on acquisition 113,590
Consideration 123,500

The consideration of AED 123,500 thousands has been fully settled in cash during the year.
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4 BUSINESS COMBINATIONS AND ASSETS HELD FOR SALE (continued)
(b)  Assets held for sale
Emaar Middle East LLC

During the year, the Group has entered in a separation agreement with Al Oula Real Estate Development Holding
Company (“Al Oula), by which the Group has agrecd to acquire the cquity shares held by Al Oula in Emaar Middle
East LLC (“EME”) and its subsidiaries, which will be settled by way of transfer of ownership of a project (the “EME
disposal group”) developed by EME to Al Qula.

The transfer of these shares to the Group is subject to certain milestones and conditions defined in the separation
agreement. As at 31 December 2016 these milestones and conditions are not completed and the shares are not
transferred to the Group. Accordingly, the assets and liabilities relating to the EME disposal group have been disclosed
under ‘assets held for sale’ and ‘liabilities associated with assets held for sale’ in the consolidated statement of
financial position.

The major classes of assets and liabilities of the EME disposal group classified as held for sale as at 31 December
2016 are as follows:

31 December 2016

AED’000
Assets
Development properties (note 12) 935,556
Trade and other receivables 6,858
Total assets 942,414
Liabilities
Trade and other payables 579,722
Advances from customers (note 20) 20,236
Total liabilities 599,958
Net assets directly associated with the EME disposal group 342,456

There were no significant gains or losses recognised in the consolidated income statement or in the consolidated
statement of comprehensive income with respect to these assets.
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5 REVENUE AND COST OF REVENUE

Revenue

Revenue from property sales

Sale of condominiums

Sale of villas

Sale of commercial units, plots of land and others

Revenue from hospitality

Rental income from leased properties and related income

Cost of revenue

Cost of revenue from property sales

Cost of condominiums

Cost of villas

Cost of commercial units, plots of land and others

Operating cost of hospitality

Operating cost of leasing and related activities

2016
AED’000

4,075,383
4,153,727
1,336,496
1,438,100

4,535,998

15,539,704

2,961,780
2,464,358
455,518
862,733

695,391

7,439,780

2015
AED’000

3,562,843
2,658,089
1,651,753

1,676,691

4,111,160

—_—

13,660,536

—_—
—_——

2,588,311
1,670,202
484,131

992,696
662,272

—_——

6,397,612

Cost of revenue includes AED Nil (2015: AED 70,823 thousands) of costs incurred on certain projects of the Group

which are discontinued.

6 SELLING, GENERAL AND ADMINISTRATIVE EXPENSES

Payroll and related expenses

Depreciation of property, plant and equipment (note 16)
Sales and marketing expenses

Depreciation of investment properties (note 17)
Property management expenses

Donations

Pre-operating expenses

Provision for doubtful debts/write off, net

Other expenses

2016
AED’000

648,417
601,464
353,462
353,457
278,193
73,944
102,225
27,987
526,732
2,965,881

—_—
Eaae————

2015
AED'000

620,740
599,379
557,365
301,632
273,891
107,102
3,143
36,894
378416

2,878,562

—_—
EES e —————
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7 FINANCE INCOME

2016
AED’000
Finance income on fixed deposits with banks 272,049
Other finance income 368,485
640,534

8 INCOME TAX

2016
AED’000

Consolidated income statement
Current income tax expense (104,027)
Deferred income tax 25,463

(78,564)

2016
AED’'000

Consolidated statement of financial position
Income tax payable, balance at the beginning of the year 54,421
Effect of changes in accounting policy -

Balance at | January 2016 54,421
Charge for the year 104,027
Paid during the year (78,398)
Income tax payable, balance at the end of the year (note 19) 80,050

2015
AED 000

151,750
280,569

—_—

432,319

—_—
e ———

2015
AED'000

(11,000)
64,950

—

53,950

2015
AED'000

16,804
35,789
52,593
11,000
(9,172)

54,421

Income tax expense relates to the tax payable on the results of the subsidiaries, as adjusted in accordance with the
taxation laws and regulations of the countries in which the subsidiaries operate. The relationship between the tax

expense and the accounting profit can be explained as follows:

2016

AED’000
Profit before tax 5,894,831
Profit not subject to tax, net (5,416,252)
Accounting profit subject to income tax, net 478,579
Current income tax expense (104,027)
UAE applicable income tax rate 0.00%
Effective tax rate as percentage of accounting profit 21.74%

4,535,343
(3,816,425)

I

718,918

II

(11,000)

II

0.00%

II

1.53%

The income tax charge is applicable on the Group’s operations in Turkey, Egypt, Morocco, India, Pakistan, Lebanon,

Kingdom of Saudi Arabia, the United Kingdom, the United States of America, Italy and Syria.
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9 BANK BALANCES AND CASH

Cash in hand
Current and call bank deposit accounts
Fixed deposits maturing within three months

Cash and cash equivalents

Deposits under lien (note 22)
Fixed deposits maturing afier three months

Bank balances and cash located:
Within UAE
Outside UAE

Bank balances and cash are denominated in the following currencies:

United Arab Emirates Dirham (AED)
United States Dollar (USD)

Saudi Riyal (SAR)

Egyptian Pound (EGP)

Indian Rupee (INR)

Moroccan Dirham (MAD)

Other currencies

Cash at banks earn interest at floating rates based on prevailing bank deposit rates. Short-term fi

2016
AED’000

8,657
7,465,613
1,486,830
8,961,100

87,462
8,239,973

17,288,535

2016
AED’000

15,965,904
1,322,631

—_———

17,288,535

2016
AED’000

15,965,904
404,099
128,453
618,794
117,307

25,541
28,437

17,288,535

2015
AED 000

7,217
7,882,211
992,414

—_—_——

8,881,842

27,208
9,009,922

—_——

17,918,972

2015
AED'000

16,430,648
1,488,324

17,918,972

2015
AED 000

16,430,648
241,959
220,818
961,003

6,069
42,894
15,581

—_——

17,918,972

xed deposits are made

for varying periods between one day and three months, depending on the immediate cash requirements of the Group,

and earn interest at the respective short-term deposit rates.

Fixed deposits maturing after three months earn interest at rates between 1.30% and 2.80% per annum (2015: 1.30%

and 2.95% per annum).

Bank balances maintained in the UAE includes an amount of AED 15,849 thousands (2015; AED 16,791 thousands)

committed for investments in a project in Syria.

The Company is required to maintain certain deposits/balances amountin

g to AED 9,637,586 thousands (2015:

AED 9,432,428 thousands) with banks for unclaimed dividends and advances received from customers against sale
of development properties which are deposited into escrow accounts. These deposits/balances are not under lien.
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10 TRADE AND UNBILLED RECEIVABLES

2016 2015
AED’000 AED'000
Trade receivables
Amounts reccivables within 12 months, net 1,072,452 556,665
Unbilled receivables
Unbilled receivables within 12 months 1,306,473 1,273,356
Unbilled receivables afier 12 months 312,641 786,960
1,619,114 2,060,316
Total trade and unbilled receivables 2,691,566 2,616,981

The above trade receivables are net of AED 133,098 thousands (2015: AED 128,541 thousands) relating to provision
for doubtful debts representing management’s best estimate of doubtfi] trade receivables which are past due for more
than 90 days. All other receivables are considered recoverable.

Movement in the provision for doubtful debts during the year is as follows:

2016 2015
AED’000 AED'000
Balance at the beginning of the year 128,541 109,192
Provision made during the year 5,542 24,831
Provision written off during the year (985) (5,482)
Balance at the end of the year 133,098 128,541

At 31 December, the ageing analysis of net trade and unbilled receivables is as follows:

Neither Past due but not impaired
past
due nor Less than Between Between More than
Total impaired 30 days 3010 60 days 60 to 90 days 90 days
AED’000 AED’000 AED’000 AED’000 AED’000 AED’000
2016 2,691,566 1,619,114 237,232 101,586 54,861 678,773
2015 2,616,981 2,060,316 137,746 63,028 118,408 237,483

Refer note 32(a) on credit risks of trade and unbilled receivables, which discusses how the Group manages and
measures credit quality of trade and unbilled receivables that are neither past due nor impaired.
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At 31 December 2016

11 OTHER ASSETS, RECEIVABLES, DEPOSITS AND PREPAYMENTS

2016

AED’000

Advances 1o contractors and others 1,808,101
Prepayments (including prepaid lease rentals) 1,172,780
Recoverable from non-controlling interests (i) 1,073,847
Recoverable under joint development agreements 999,119
Insurance claim receivable (ii) 678,924
Value added tax recoverable 599,187
Decferred sales commission (iii) 496,805
Deposits for acquisition of land 179,792
Receivables from Communities Owner Associations 144,907
Deferred income tax assets 68,543
Inventory - Hospitality and Retail 68,047
Accrued interest 51,481
Other receivables and deposits 542,564
7,884,097

Other assets, receivables, deposits and prepayments maturity profile:

Amounts recoverable within 12 months 4,376,479
Amounts recoverable after 12 months 3,507,618
7,884,097

(i) Recoverable from non-controlling interests includes:

2015
AED 000

1,332,865
,209,654
605,625
268,436

404,394
243,290
36,703
149,163
70,393
77,186
66,786
349,992

4,814,487

2,860,501
1,953,986

4,814,487

- AED 500 million (2015: AED 500 million) receivable from the partner of a subsidiary of the Group, which
carries interest at EIBOR plus 1.75% per annum (2015: EIBOR plus 1.75% per annum) and is receivable in

2020.

- AED 385 million (2015: AED Nil) receivable from the other promotor group in EMGF as per the demerger

scheme, which carries interest at 11.25% per annum and is receivable by 2019.

(i) On 30 November 2016, the Group has entered into a Settlement, Release and Subrogation Agreement with Orient
Insurance PJSC for the insurance claim related to The Address Downtown Dubai Hotel and Serviced Residences
which was damaged in a fire in 2015. Both parties have agreed to the final claim settlement amount of AED
1,220,000 thousands towards business interruption, damage to building and associated works, damage to fit out,
furniture, equipment and installation and other claims. The Group has recorded AED 445,382 thousands in other
income in the consolidated income statement for compensation against the loss of damage to the hotel assets

recorded in 2015 and business interruption (also refer note 16).

(iii) The deferred sales commission expense incurred to obtain or fulfil a contract with the customers is amortised

over the period of satisfying performance obligations where applicable,
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At 31 December 2016

12 DEVELOPMENT PROPERTIES

2016
AED’000
Balance at the beginning of the year 21,356,561
Effect of changes in accounting policy -
Balance at | January 21,356,561
Add: Acquisition of a subsidiary (note 4(a)(1)) 10,649,171
Add: Costs incurred during the year 8,787,519

Add/(less): Costs transferred from/(to) property, plant and
equipment (note 16)* 480,959

Less: Costs transferred to cost of revenue during the year (5,881,656)
Less: Foreign currency translation differences (1,987,101)
Less: Transferred to assets held for sale (note 4(b)) (935,556)
Less: Costs transferred to investment propertics (note 17)* (13,504)
Balance at the end of the year 32,456,393

2015
AED 000

27,625,627
(2,400,881)

——

25,224,746
5,078,644

(594,485)
(4,742,644)
(414,007)

(3,195,693)

—_—

21,356,561

*The Group has transferred certain costs from / to property, plant and equi ment and investment properties based on
P prop p quip prop

the change in intended use of such developments (also refer notes 16 and 17).

Development properties located:

Within UAE 14,150,272
Outside UAE 18,306,121
32,456,393

12,043,624
9,312,937

21,356,561

—_—
—_——

Properties acquired, constructed or in the course of construction for sale in the ordinary course of business are

classified as development properties and include the costs of:

*  Freehold and leasehold rights for land,;

®  Amounts paid to contractors for construction including the cost of construction of infrastructure; and
* Borrowing costs, planning and design costs, costs of site preparation, professional fees for legal services, property

transfer taxes, construction overheads and other related costs.

Common infrastructure cost is allocated to various projects and forms part of the estimated cost to complete a project
in order to determine the cost attributable to revenue being recognised. The development span of some of the

development properties is estimated to be over 10 years.

The valuation of most of the Group’s development properties is carried out by independent professionally qualified

valuers in accordance with RICS appraisals and valuation standards. Accordingly, the fair value of
properties as at the reporting date is in excess of AED 63,620,935 thousands (2015: AED 61,86
compared to the carrying value of AED 32,456,393 thousands (2015: AED 21,356,561 thousands).

As at 31 December 2016, an amount of AED 109,700 thousands (2015: AED 100,313 thousands

cost of borrowings for the construction of development properties.

Fair value hierarchy

the development
8,179 thousands)

) was capitalised as

The Group uses the following hierarchy for determining and disclosing the fair value of its development properties by

valuation technique:

Total Level 1 Level 2 Level 3
AED’000 AED’000 AED’000 AED’000
2016 63,620,935 - - 63,620,935
2015 61,868,179 - - 61,868,179

Any significant movement in the assumptions used for the fair valuation of development properties such as discount

rates, yield etc. would result in significantly lower/higher fair value of those assets.
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At 31 December 2016

I3 INVESTMENTS IN SECURITIES

2016

AED’000
Financial assets at fair value through other comprehensive income (i) 909,740
Financial assets at amortised cost 710,368
1,620,108

Investments in securitiey:
Within UAE 809,488
Outside UAE 810,620
1,620,108

2015
AED 000

743,340
908,897

1,652,237

—
—_—

686,045
966,192

———

1,652,237

(i) Financial assets at fair value through other comprehensive income includes a contingent convertible instrument
at fair value of AED 5,737 thousands (2015: AED 5,737 thousands) (refer note 14(i)) and fund investments
managed by an external fund manager. Equity investments are in quoted, unquoted and index linked securities.

Fuair value hierarchy

The Group uses the following hierarchy for determining and disclosing the fair value of financial assets at fair value

through other comprehensive income by valuation technique:

Total Level 1 Level 2 Level 3
AED’000 AED’000 AED’000 AED’000
2016 909,740 90,134 792,167 27,439
2015 743,340 85,549 630,352 27,439

Valuations for Level 2 investments in securities have been derived by determining their redemption value which is

generally net asset value per share of the investee companies,

There were no transfers made between Level I and Level 2 during the year.

The following table shows a reconciliation of the opening and closing amount of Level 3 financial assets which are

recorded at fair value:

2016
AED'000
Balance at | January 27,439
Redemption of contingent convertible instruments -
Balance at 31 December 27,439

2015
AED’000

28,480
(1,041)

27,439

During the year, the Group has made additional investments in securities of AED 1,070,624 thousands (2015: AED

931,116 thousands).
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14 LOANS TO ASSOCIATES AND JOINT VENTURES
2016 2015

AED’000 AED'000
Amlak Finance PJSC (i) 104,215 108,782
Emaar MGF Land Limited and its related parties (ii) - 2,731,228
Golden Ace Pte Ltd (ii) - 175,312
Other associates and Jjoint ventures 49,494 6,853
153,709 3,022,175

(i) As per the terms of the restructuring agreement entered in 2014, 20% of the principal amount of the loan was

repaid by Amlak in 2014, 65% is restructured into a long term facility maturing in 12 years carrying a profit rate
of 2% per annum and 15% is restructured into a 12-year contingent convertible instrument (CCl).
The CClI has been recorded as a composite financial instrument at fair value through other comprehensive income
as per IFRS 9. The fair value of CCI at Amlak’s discount rate of 15% per annum is AED 5,737 thousands (2015:
AED 5,737 thousands) and is included under Financial assets through other comprehensive income (refer note
13). CClI carries a payment in kind of 1% per annum that will be accrued annually and will be paid at the end of
the tenor.

(i) The loan to Golden Ace Pte Ltd and part of the loans to Emaar MGF Land Limited and its related parties have
been settled during the year through the transfer of 7.68% ownership interest in EMGF to the Group by the other
promotor group in EMGF (refer note 4(a)(1)).

IS5 INVESTMENTS IN ASSOCIATES AND JOINT VENTURES

2016 2015
AED’000 AED'000

Carrying value of investments in associates and joint ventures:

Emaar, The Economic City

(Saudi Joint Stock Company) - quoted (i) 2,587,779 2,558,308

Emaar MGF Land Limited (ii) - 2,105,278

Amlak Finance PJSC - quoted (iii) 710,783 751,962

Emaar Bawadi LLC 462,664 449,544

Turner International Middle East Ltd 349,027 338,965

Eko Temali Parklar Turizm Isletmeleri Anonim Sirketi (iv) 256,257 -

Emaar Industries and Investment (Pvt) JSC 136,865 126,895

Mirage Leisure and Development Inc. (note 4(a)(2)) 136,617 125,213

Dead Sea Company for Tourist and Real Estate Investment 118,434 123,598

Others 105,008 117,167

4,863,434 6,696,930

®

(i)

The market value of the shares held in Emaar, The Economic City (“EEC”) (quoted on the Saudi Stock
Exchange - Tadawul) as at 31 December 2016 was AED 4,367,266 thousands (2015: AED 3,292,698
thousands).

During the year, subsequent to filing of the demerger scheme with Delhi High Court in India, the Group has
acquired control of Emaar MGF Land Limited (“EMGF”) and consequently EMGF has become a subsidiary
of the Group. Accordingly, as per IFRS 3 Business Combinations, the Group’s investment in EMGF, which
was previously recorded as investment in an associate, has been deemed to be disposed and the EMGF balances
have been included in the consolidated financial statements through line-by-line consolidation in accordance
with IFRS 10 Consolidated Financial Statements (refer note 4(a)(D)).
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I5  INVESTMENTS IN ASSOCIATES AND JOINT VENTURES (continued)

(iii) The market value of the shares held in Amlak Finance PJSC (“Amlak™) (quoted on the Dubai Financial Market)
as at 31 December 2016 was AED 908,712 thousands (2015: AED 1,016,966 thousands).

(iv) During the year, the Group has entered into a joint venture agreement for a mixed-use development project with
Ekopark Turizm Ingaat Sanayii ve Ticaret A.S. (“Ekopark™), a joint stock company registered in Turkey. The
Group has made a payment of USD 69,910 thousands (AED 256,778 thousands) as its contribution towards the
Joint venture company.

The Group has the following ownership interest in its significant associates and joint ventures:

Country of Ownership
incorporation 2016 2015

Emaar MGF Land Limited India - 48.86%
Emaar, The Economic City (Saudi Joint Stock Company) KSA 30.59% 30.59%
Amlak Finance PJSC UAE 48.08% 48.08%
Emaar Industries and Investments (Pvt) JSC UAE 40.00% 40.00%
Dead Sea Company for Tourist and Real Estate Investment Jordan 29.33% 29.33%
Mirage Leisure and Development Inc. BVI 65.00% 65.00%
Emaar Bawadi LLC UAE 50.00% 50.00%
Turner International Middle East Ltd UAE 56.00% 56.00%
Eko Temali Parklar Turizm Isletmeleri Anonim Sirketi Turkey 50.00% -
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Emaar Properties PJSC and its Subsidiaries o
NOTES TO THIE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)
AL 31 December 2016

16 PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT (continued)

The valuation of the Group’s significant revenuc generating property, plant and equipment is carried out by
independent professionally qualified valuers. The net income has been capitalised at terminal yicld range of 6.25% to
7.25% (2015: 6.00% to 7.50%) and a discount rate range of 8.75% t0 9.75% (2015: 6.50% to 9.00%) representing the
characteristics and risk profile of an asset to determine the value of cach of the revenue generating property, plant and
cquipment. At 31 December 2016, the fair value of these revenue generating property, plant and equipment assets is
AED 7,788,555 thousands (2015: AED 7,137,120 thousands) compared with a carrying value of AED 5,249,447
thousands (2015: AED 5, 140,694 thousands).

Certain asscts relating to The Address Downtown hotel which were damaged in a fire on 31 December 2015 were
written off by the Group based on a damage assessment undertaken by an independent consultant. The assets written
off included property, plant and equipment with net carrying value of AED 293,224 thousands and inventories
amounting to AED 8,048 thousands. This represents management’s best estimate of the loss of damage as at 31
December 2015.

In 2015, a non-controlling partner of the Group contributed plots of land amounting to AED 276,058 thousands as
capital contribution to a subsidiary of the Group as per the terms of shareholders agreement and approval of Board of
Directors of the subsidiary.

Certain property, plant and equipment assets are pledged as security against interest-bearing loans and borrowings as
disclosed under note 22.

Fair value hierarchy
The Group uses the following hierarchy for determining and disclosing the fair value of its revenue generating
property, plant and equipment by valuation technique:

Total Level 1 Level 2 Level 3
AED’000 AED’000 AED’000 AED’000
2016 7,788,555 - - 7,788,555
2015 7,137,120 - - 7,137,120

Any significant movement in the assumptions used for the fair valuation of revenue generating property, plant and
equipment such as discount rates, long term revenue/margin growth etc. would result in significantly lower / higher
fair value of those assets.
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Emaar Properties PJSC and its Subsidiaries
NOTES TO THI: CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)
At 31 December 2016

17 INVESTMENT PROPERTIES (continued)

The fair value of the frechold interest in Group’s investment propertics at 31 December 2016 was determined by the
management based on valuations performed by independent and renowned external valuers. The valuation was
performed in accordance with the RICS valuation standards, adopting the IFRS basis of fair value and using
established valuation techniques. The value of the investment properties has been determined through analysis of the
income cash flow achicevable for the buildings and takes into account the projected annual expenditure. Both the
contracted rent and estimated rental values have been considered in the valuation with allowances for void periods,
running costs, vacancy rates and other costs, Based on the type and location of the property, the value of each of the
properties has been determined by capitalising the estimated net income at an equivalent yield in the range of 7.00%
to 10.44% (2015: 7.00% to 10.00%) (income capitalisation method); or assuming rental growth rates of 3.07%,
discount rates of 9.25% to 11.89% and exit cap rates of 5.75% to 8.50% (discounted cash flow method). Where there
are outstanding construction costs to complete the property these have been reflected in the valuation (residual
method).

The fair value of investment properties is AED 60,278,132 thousands (2015: AED 54,688,805 thousands) compared
with a carrying value of AED 13,785,511 thousands (2015: AED 12,099,101 thousands).

Investment properties represent the Group’s interest in land and buildings situated in the UAE, India, Turkey and
Egypt.
Fair value hierarchy

The Group uses the following hierarchy for determining and disclosing the fair value of its investment properties by
valuation technique:

Total Level 1 Level 2 Level 3
AED’000 AED’000 AED’000 AED’000
2016 60,278,132 - - 60,278,132
2015 54,688,805 - - 54,688,805

Any significant movement in the assumptions used for the fair valuation of investment properties such as discount
rates, yield, rental growth, vacancy rate etc. would result in significantly lower / higher fair value of those assets.

18 GOODWILL

2016 2015
AED’000 AED’000
Balance at the beginning and end of the year 46,066 46,066

The goodwill relates to the operations of Hamptons in the MENA region and has been tested for impairment using a
value in use model. The calculation of value in use was sensitive to the following assumptions:

Gross margins - Gross margins were based on the expectations of management based on past experience and
expectation of future market conditions.

Discount rates - Discount rates reflected management’s estimate of the specific risks. The discount rate was based on
the risk free rate of the investment’s country, market risk premium related to the industry and individual unit related
risk premium/ discount. This was the benchmark used by management to assess performance and to evaluate future
investment proposals. Management estimated that such discount rate to be used for evaluation of the investment
should be between 7% and 9% (2015: 7% and 8%).

Growth rate estimates - Management prepared a five-year budget based on their expectations of future results,
thereafter a growth rate of 0.5% to 1% (2015: 0.5% to 1%) was assumed.

Sensitivity to changes in assumptions

With regard to the assessment of value in use of the goodwill, management believes that no reasonably possible
change in a key assumption would cause the carrying value of the goodwill to materially exceed its recoverable
amount,
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Emaar Properties PJSC and its Subsidiaries o
NOTLES TO THIE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)
At 31 December 2016

19 TRADE AND OTHER PAYABLES

2016 2015

AED’000 AED 000
Project contract cost accruals and provisions 3,965,371 4,098,732
Deferred income tax payable 2,196,974 4,544
Trade payables 878,688 1,022,517
Creditors for land purchase 591,454 453,414
Payable to non-controlling interests 477,863 1,013,309
Dividends payable 301,524 300,457
Income tax payablc (note 8) 80,050 54,421

Contingent liabilities arising on acquisition of a subsidiary (note 4(a)(1)) 23,362 -
Other payables and accruals 2,788,256 2,403,003
11,303,542 9,350,397

Trade and other payables are non-interest bearing and for explanations on the Group’s credit risk management process
(refer note 32).

20 ADVANCES FROM CUSTOMERS

2016 2015

AED’000 AED'000
Balance at the beginning of the year 14,071,943 15,482,005
Effect of changes in accounting policy - (2,894,980)
Balance at I January 14,071,943 12,587,025
Add: Acquisition of a subsdiary (note 4(a)(1)) 2,244,028 -
Add: Amount billed during the year 14,684,397 13,618,168
Less: Revenue recognised during the year (14,101,604) (11,983,845)
Less: Foreign currency translation differences (1,103,444) (102,859)
Less: Forfeiture/other income recognised during the year (20,690) (46,546)
Less: Transferred to assets held for sale (note 4(b)) (20,236) -
Balance at the end of the year 15,754,394 14,071,943

The aggregate amount of the sale price allocated to the performance obligations of the Group that are unsatisfied /
partially unsatisfied as at 31 December 2016 is AED 38,918,165 thousands (2015: AED 35,573,669 thousands). The
Group expects to recognise these unsatisfied performance obligations as revenue over a period of 4 to 5 years.

Revenue during the year, as stated above, is significantly recognised from the balance at | January 2016.

21 RETENTIONS PAYABLE

2016 2015
AED’000 AED’000
Retentions payable within 12 months 304,085 319,103
Retentions payable after 12 months 588,319 484,189
892,404 803,292
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Emaar Properties PJSC and its Subsidiaries

NOTLS TO THI: CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

At 31 December 2016

22 INTEREST-BEARING LOANS AND BORROWINGS

Balance at the beginning of the year

Add: Acquisition of a subsidiary, net

Add: Borrowings drawn down during the year
Less: Borrowings repaid during the year

Balance at the end of the year
Less: Unamortised portion of directly attributable costs

Net interest-bearing loans and borrowings at the end of the year
Interest-bearing loans and borrowings maturity profile:
Within 12 months
After 12 months
Balance at the end of the year
Interest-bearing loans and borrowings located:

Within UAE
Outside UAE

2016
AED’000

6,914,909
967,488
3,117,254

(930,664)

10,068,987
(32,822)

10,036,165

728,226
9,307,939

I
I

10,036,165

5,463,180
4,572,985

I
I

10,036,165

The Group has the following secured and unsecured interest-bearing loans and borrowings:

Secured

2015
AED 000

6,006,848

1,588,353
(680,292)

6,914,909
(40,115)

6,874,794

I

325,009
6,549,785

6,874,794

Il

5,142,960
1,731,834

6,874,794

II

- USD 500,000 thousands (AED 1,836,500 thousands) of Syndicated facility, secured against certain investment
properties owned by the Group in Turkey, carries interest at LIBOR plus 1.75% per annum and fully repayable by

2019,

- USD 20,304 thousands (AED 74,577 thousands) loan from a commercial b
Lebanon, carries interest at rates ranging from 6.5% to 7.5% per annum and is repayable by 2018,

- USD 13,152 thousands (AED 48,307 thousands) loan from a commercial bank, secur:
Lebanon, carries interest at 1.075% per annum and is repayable by 2020.

- AED 500,000 thousands loan from a commercial bank, secured against certain assets in Unite
carries interest at EIBOR plus 1.75% per annum and is repayable in 2020.

- AED 312,928 thousands represents partial drawdown out of AED 750
bank, secured against certain assets in the United Arab Emirates, carri

is repayable by 2026.

- INR 17,406,026 thousands (AED 940,465 thousands) loans from commercial banks and fi
secured against certain assets in India, bearing interest at rates ranging from 9.90%

repayable by 2022,

ank, secured against certain assets in

ed against certain assets in

d Arab Emirates,

,000 thousand loan facility from a commercial
es interest at EIBOR plus 2.5% per annum and

nancial institutions,
to 16.60% per annum and
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Emaar Properties PJSC and its Subsidiaries o
NOTLS TO THI: CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)
At 31 December 2016

22 INTEREST-BEARING LOANS AND BORROWINGS (continued)

Unsecured

- During 2014, the Group has drawn down USD 1,250,000 thousands (AED 4,591,250 thousands) Syndicated
Murabaha Islamic Finance Facility (the “Syndicated Facility”) availed from a syndication of commercial banks in
UAE. The Syndicated Facility is presented in the consolidated financial statements at AED 4,558,428 thousands net
of unamortised directly attributable transaction cost. The Syndicated Facility is unsecured, carries profitrate at LIBOR
plus 1.75% per annum and is fully repayable in 2021. The bank has a lien of AED 31,897 thousands (2015: AED
27,208 thousands) (refer note 9) towards accrued interest.

- PKR 3,703,758 thousands (AED 130,372 thousands) loans from commercial banks, bearing interest at KIBOR plus
0.10% - 0.15% per annum and repayable in 2017,

- PKR 1,453,128 thousands (AED 51,150 thousands) loan from a commercial bank, bearing interest at KIBOR plus
0.30% per annum and is fully repayable by 2017.

- EGP 61,062 thousands (AED 12,371 thousands) of funding facilities from commercial banks in Egypt, bearing
interest at rates ranging from 0.50% to 1.50% plus CBE Corridor Rate and repayable by 2021,

- USD 180,000 thousands (AED 661,140 thousands) loan from a commercial bank in Turkey, bearing interest at
LIBOR plus 1.30% per annum and repayable by 2018,

- USD 56,996 thousands (AED 209,346 thousands) loans from commercial banks in Lebanon, bearing interest at rates
ranging from 3.25% to 3.75% per annum and repayable by 201 8.

- SAR 20,025 thousands (AED 19,600 thousands) loan from a commercial bank bearing interest at SIBOR plus 1%
per annum and is repayable in 201 7.

- USD 25,000 thousands (AED 91,825 thousands) represents partial drawdown out of USD 500,000 thousands (AED
1,836,500 thousands) Revolving Credit Line Facility (the “Facility”) availed from the syndication of commercial
banks in UAE, carries interest at LIBOR plus 1.25% to 1.35% per annum and is repayable by 2020.

- INR 10,904,037 thousands (AED 589,156 thousands) loans from commercial banks in India, bearing interest at
5.50% to 10% per annum and repayable by 2023. The banks have a lien of AED 55,565 thousands (2015: AED Nil)
(refer note 9) towards various facilities.

23 SUKUK
A. Emaar Sukuk Limited:

Emaar Sukuk Limited (the “Issuer”), a limited liability company registered in the Cayman Islands and a wholly-
owned subsidiary of the Group, has established a trust certificate issuance programme (the “Programme”) pursuant
to which the Issuer may issue from time to time up to USD 2,000,000 thousands (AED 7,346,000 thousands) of trust
certificates in series.

Series 1:

On 3 February 2011, the Issuer had issued first series of trust certificates (the “Sukuk 1) amounting to USD 500,000
thousands (AED 1,836,500 thousands) under the Programme. Sukuk 1 carried a profit distribution at the rate of 8.5%
per annum to be paid semi-annually. On 3 August 2016, upon maturity, the Issuer fully repaid the Sukuk | liability.
The Sukuk 1 was listed on the London Stock Exchange and NASDAQ Dubai. The carrying value of Sukuk 1 is as
follows:

2016 2015
AED’000 AED’000
Sukuk liability as at year-end - 1,834,117
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Emaar Propertics PJSC and its Subsidiaries

NOTES TO THI: CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

AL 31 December 2016

23 SUKUK (continued)
A. Emaar Sukuk Limited (continued):

Series 2:

On 18 July 2012, the Issuer had issued the second series of the trust certificates (the “Sukuk 2”

) amounting to

USD 500,000 thousands (AED 1,836,500 thousands) under the Programme. The Sukuk 2 is listed on NASDAQ Dubai

and is due for repayment in 2019, Sukuk 2 carries a profit distribution at the rate of 6.4%

annually. The carrying value of Sukuk 2 is as follows:

Sukuk liability as at year-end

Series 3;

On 15 September 2016, the Issuer has issued the third series of the trust certificates (the “Sukuk 3”
USD 750,000 thousands (AED 2,754,750 thousands) under the Programme. The Sukuk 3 is

annually. The carrying value of Sukuk 3 is as follows:

Proceeds from issuance of the Sukuk
Less: Sukuk issuance cost

Sukuk liability on initial recognition
Profit accrued up to year-end

Sukuk liability as at year-end

B. Emaar Malls Group (EMG) Sukuk Limited:

2016
AED’000

1,831,060

per annum to be paid semi-

2015
AED'000

1,829,148

) amounting to
listed on NASDAQ Dubai

and is due for repayment in 2026. Sukuk 3 carries a profit distribution at the rate of 3.64% per annum to be paid semi-

2016
AED’000

2,754,750

(9,750)
2,745,000
243

—

2,745,243

—_—

On 18 June 2014, the EMG Sukuk Limited (the “Issuer™), a limited liability company registered in the Cayman Islands

and a wholly-owned subsidiary of EMG, has issued trust certifi

cates (the “Sukuk™) amounting to USD 750,000

thousands (AED 2,754,750 thousands). The Sukuk is listed on the NASDAQ Dubai and is due for repayment in 2024,
The Sukuk carries a profit distribution rate 0f 4.6% per annum to be paid semi-annually. The carrying value of Sukuk

is as follows:

Sukuk liability as at year-end

The total Sukuk liability is as follows:

Emaar Sukuk Limited:
- Series |

- Series 2

- Series 3

EMG Sukuk Limited:
- Sukuk

Total Sukuk liability at the year-end

2016
AED’000

2,737,734

2016
AED’000

1,831,060
2,745,243

2,737,734

7,314,037

—
_—

2015
AED'000

2,735,867

—_———

2015
AED’000

1,834,117
1,829,148

2,735,867

—_—

6,399,132

—
_—
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At 31 December 2016

24 EMPLOYEE BENEFITS

End-of-Service Benefits
The movement in the provision for employees’ end-of-service benefits was as follows:

2016 2015
AED’000 AED 000
Balance at the beginning of the year 136,104 133,584
Add: Acquisition of a subsidiary (note 4(a)(1)) 9,930 -
Provided during the yecar 26,825 22367
Paid during the year (24,329) (19,847)
Balance at the end of the year 148,530 136,104

Employees’ Performance Share Programme

The Company has an Employee Performance Share Programme (“the Programme™) to recognise and retain high
performing staff. The Programme gives the employee the right to purchase the Company’s shares at par. The shares
carry full dividend and voting rights, and the option can be exercised at any time from the stipulated vested dates on

The following table illustrates the number (No.) and weighted average exercise prices (WAEP) of, and movements
in, share options during the year:

2016 2015
No. WAEP No. WAEP
Outstanding at the beginning of the year 59,743 AED 1.00 59,743 AED 1.00
Granted during the year - - - -
Exercised during the year - - - -
Outstanding at the end of the year 59,743 AED 1.00 59,743 AED 1.00

The fair value of the vested shares is determined by reference to the official price list published by the Dubai Financial
Market (DFM) for the 5 consecutive trading days prior to and after the vested date. As the options are granted deep
in the money, management considers this to be an appropriate means of valuation.

The expense recognised during the year in respect of the programme was AED Nil (2015: AED Nil).

25 SHARE CAPITAL

2016 2015
AED’000 AED'000
Authorised capital: 7,159,738,882 shares of AED | each
(2015: 7,159,738,882 shares of AED | each) 7,159,739 7,159,739
Issued and fully paid-up: 7,159,738,882 shares of AED | each
(2015: 7,159,738,882 shares of AED 1 each) 7,159,739 7,159,739
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Emaar Properties PJSC and its Subsidiaries

NOTES TO THIEE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

At 31 December 2016

26 RESERVES (continued)

According to Article number 57 of the Articles of Association of the Company and Article 239 of the UAE Federal
law No.(2) of 2015, 10% of annual net profits are allocated to the Statutory reserve and another 10% to the gencral
reserve, The transfers to the statutory reserve may be suspended when the reserve reaches 50% of the paid-up capital.
Transfers to the general reserve may be suspended by the ordinary general assembly when the reserve reaches 50%

of the paid-up capital.

The statutory reserve is in excess of 50% of the paid-up share capital of the Company and therefore in accordance
with a resolution of the Annual General Meeting, the Group has ceased further transfers to this reserve,

The statutory reserve includes:

- AED 2,475,000 thousands being the premium collected at AED 15 per share (shares par value at that time was
AED 10 per sharc) on the 1:1.65 rights issue during the year ended 31 December 1998;

- AED 11,321,656 thousands being the premium collected to date at AED 4 per share (share par value at AED | per
share) on the I:1 rights issue announced during the year ended 3| December 2005;

- AED 1,348,331 thousands being the premium of AED 3.38 per share (share par value at AED | per share) on
conversion of the notes having face value of USD 475,700 thousands (AED 1,747,246 thousands) on 22 January
2014,

- AED 63,207 thousands being the premium of AED 3.38 per share (share par value at AED | per share) on
conversion of the Notes having face value of USD 22,300 thousands (AED 8 1,907 thousands) on 22 December
2014; and

In 2015, appropriation to the general reserve also included AED 233,791 thousands on account of adjustment to the
opening retained earnings of AED 2,337,907 thousands.

The capital reserve was created from the gain on sale of treasury shares in 2003.
Net unrealised gains/(losses) reserve:

- This reserve records fair value changes in financial assets at fair valye through other comprehensive income and the
Group’s share in fair value reserve of the associated companies.

Foreign currency translation reserve:

- The foreign currency translation reserve is used to record exchange difference arising from translation of the
financial statements of foreign subsidiaries and associates.

Hedging reserves:

- Hedging reserves represents the effective portion of the gain or loss on the interest rate swap contracts held by
the Group.
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At 31 December 2016

27 EARNINGS PER SHARE

Basic carnings per sharc amounts are calculated by dividing net profit or loss for the year attributable to the owners

of the Parent by the weighted average number of ordinary shares outstanding during the year.

Diluted carnings per share amounts arc calculated by dividing the net profit or loss attributable to the owners of the

The information necessary to calculate basic and diluted earnings per share is as follows:

2016 2015
AED’000 AED'000
Earnings:
Profit attributable to the owners of the Parent 5,232,857 4,082,165
2016 2015
Number of shares in thousands
Weighted-average number of ordinary shares for basic earnings per share 7,159,739 7,159,739
2016 2015
Earnings per share:
- basic and diluted carnings per share (AED) 0.73 0.57

28 GUARANTEES AND CONTINGENCIES

I. The Group has issued financial guarantees and letters of credit of AED 24,842 thousands (2015: AED 106,776

thousands).

2. The Group has provided a financial guarantee of AED 5,000 thousands (2015: AED 5,000 thousands) as a
security for the letter of guarantee issued by a commercial bank for issuance of a trade license from the

Government of Dubai.

3. The Group has provided a financial guarantee of AED 3,287 thousands (2015: AED 3,287 thousands) as a

security for the performance of its contractual obligations.

4. The Group has provided a performance guarantee of AED 4,208,818 thousan

ds (2015: AED 2,369,723

thousands) to the Real Estate Regulatory Authority (RERA), Dubai for its new projects as per RERA regulations.

5. The Group has provided a Corporate guarantee of AED 73,460 thous
commercial bank as a security for the guarantees issued by the bank o

ands (2015: AED 73,460 thousands) to a
n behalf of the joint venture of the Group.

6. The Group has provided a performance guarantee of AED 115,078 thousands (2015: AED Nil) to various

government authorities in India for its projects.

Andhra Pradesh Industrial Infrastructure Corporation Ltd. (“APIIC”), a joint venture partner in certain subsidiaries
of the Group in India, issued a legal notice to the Company to terminate certain development and operational
management agreements which were entered into between Emaar MGF Land Limited (“EMGF” - erstwhile associate
of the Group and currently a subsidiary (refer note 4(a)(1))), Emaar Hills Township Private Limited (“EHTPL” - a
Jjoint venture of the Group with APIIC) and Boulder Hills Leisure Private Limited (“BHLPL” - a joint venture of the

Group with APIIC). APIIC has filed another suit against EMGF to restrain EMGF from carrying out any activity
related to these developments. In addition, there were few litigations which were initiated against the Group by third
parties on the grounds of irregularities in acquisition and allocation of land.

The Group, based on legal advice, is of the opinion that all the aforesaid suites filed by APIIC shall be settled amicably
by the parties under the Arbitration and Conciliation Act, 1996 of India or as per the Dispute Redressal Mechanism
provided under AP Infrastructure Development Enabling Act, 2001 of India. Pending completion of various ongoing
legal proceedings related to the above mentioned projects and based on the legal advice received, the management of
the Group believes that the allegations/matters raised are contrary to the factual position and hence are not tenable.
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29 COMMITMENTS

At 31 December 2016, the Group had commitments of AED 18,681,158 thousands (2015: AED 17,1 12,746
thousands) which include project commitments of AED 18,154,087 thousands (2015: AED 16,624,543 thousands).
This represents the value of contracts issued at 3] December 2016 net of invoices received and accruals made at that
date. There were certain claims submitted by contractors relating to various projects of the Group in the ordinary
course of business from which it is anticipated that no material unprovided liabilities will arise.

Operating lease commitments - Group as lessee

The Group has entered into various operating lease agreements for properties, office facilities and equipment. These
leases have an average life of between 1 to 10 years. There are no restrictions placed upon by the Group on entering
into these leases. Future minimum rentals payable under non-cancellable operating leases as at 31 December are as

follows:

2016 2015
AED’000 AED'000
Within one year 116,677 112,969
After one year but not more than five years 347,957 135,277
More than five years 234,008 -
698,642 248,246

Operating lease commitments - Group as lessor

The Group has entered into leases on its investment property portfolio. The future minimum rentals receivable under
non-cancellable operating leases contracted for as at the reporting date but not recognised as receivables, are as
follows:

2016 2015
AED’000 AED'000
Within one year 2,688,014 2,142,096
After one year but not more than five years 5,036,498 3,417,963
More than five years 1,591,161 933,892
9,315,673 6,493,951

30 DIVIDENDS

A cash dividend of AED 0.15 per share for 2015 was approved by the shareholders of the Company at the Annual
General Meeting of the Company held on 18 April 2016,

A cash dividend of AED 0.15 per share for 2016 is proposed by the Board of Directors of the Company subject to the
approval of shareholders in the forthcoming Annual General Meeting.

69



Emaar Properties PJSC and its Subsidiaries

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

At 31 December 2016

31 RELATED PARTY DISCLOSURES

IFor the purpose of these consolidated financial statements, partics are considered to be related to
Group has the ability, directly or indircctly, to control the party or exercise signific
making financial and opcrating decisions, or vice versa, or where the Grou
control or common significant influence. Related partics may be individuals or other entities,

Related party transactions

the Group, if the
ant influence over the party in
P and the party are subject to common

During the year, the following were the significant related party transactions, which were carried out in the normal

course of business on terms agreed between the parties:

Associates and Joint Ventures:

Finance income earned on loans

Property development expenses

Capital expenditure

Islamic finance income

Selling, general and administrative expenses
Revenue from leasing and related income
Cost of revenue

Other operating income

Other income

Directors, Key management personnel and their related parfies:
Rental income from leased properties and related income
Selling, general and administrative expenses

Cost of revenue

Islamic finance income

Other finance income

Finance costs incurred on interest-bearing loans and borrowings
Sale of property

Other income

Revenue from hospitality

Property development expenses

Other operating income

Related party balances

2016
AED’000

58,033
344,182
14,510
2,680
1,663
4,367
2,287
1,052
37

——
= —————

120,088
37,308
17,107
31,624
19,867
41,123
14,204

1,682
1,997

72

2015
AED 000

108,271
142,406
26,049
3,098
3,083
3,588
1,312
1,052
81

——
e a———————

117,388
33,354
26,045
11,395
19,886
25,251

7,665
4,530
2,558
2,414

747

Significant related party balances (and the consolidated statement of financial position captions within which these

are included) are as follows:

Associates and joint ventures:
Trade and other payables
Trade receivables

Advance from customers

Directors, Key management personnel and their related parties:

Bank balances and cash

Investment in securities at fair value through other comprehensive income
Advance from customers

Interest-bearing loans and borrowings

Trade receivables

Other assets, receivables, deposits and prepayments

Trade and other payables

2016
AED’000

31,248
263
107

2,754,129
72,347
22,286

752,231
3,277
3,880
4,443

—_—
Ea———————

2015
AED’000

55,608
314
8

3,994,639
69,316
22,794

749,610
7,668
9,646
6,055

o
e —————
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31 RELATED PARTY DISCLOSURES (continued)

Compensation of key management personnel
The remuncration of key management personnel during the year was as follows:

2016 2015
AED’000 AED’000
Short-term benefits 337,359 312,539
Employees’ end-of-service benefits 13,361 16,121
350,720 328,660

During the year, the number of key management personnel is 227 (2015: AED 228).

During the year, the Company has paid a bonus of AED 3,572 thousands to each of the non-executive members of
the Board of Directors for the year 2015 as approved by the shareholders at the Annual General Meeting of the
Company held on 18 April 2016,

32 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES

Overview
The Group has exposure to the following risks from its use of financial instruments:

a) Credit risk;
b) Market risk; and
c) Liquidity risk.

This note presents information about the Group’s exposure to each of the above risks, the Group’s objectives, policies
and processes for measuring and managing risk and the Group’s management of capital.

The Board of Directors has overall responsibility for the establishment and oversight of the Group’s risk management
framework. Group's senior management are responsible for developing and monitoring the Group’s risk management
policies and report regularly to the Board of Directors on their activities,

The Group’s current financial risk management framework is a combination of formally documented risk
management policies in certain areas and informal risk management policies in others. The Group’s risk management
policies (both formal and informal) are established to identify and analyse the risks faced by the Group, to set
appropriate risk limits and controls and to monitor risks and adherence to limits, Risk management policies and
systems are reviewed regularly to reflect changes in market conditions and the Group’s activities.

The Group’s Audit Committee oversees how management monitors compliance with the Group’s risk management
policies and procedures and reviews the adequacy of the risk management framework in relation to the risks faced by

The Group also enters into derivative transactions, primarily interest rate swap contracts. The purpose is to manage
the interest rate risk arising from the Group’s sources of finance.
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32 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES (continued)
The Board of Dircctors reviews and agrees policies for managing cach of these risks which arc summariscd below:
a) Credit risk

Credit risk is the risk of financial loss to the Group if a customer or counterparty to a financial instrument fails to
meet its contractual obligations. The Group is exposed to credit risk principally from its receivables from customers,
other receivables and from its financing activities, including deposits with banks and financial institutions, foreign
exchange transactions and other financial instruments.

Trade, unbilled and other receivables

The Group’s exposure to credit risk is influenced mainly by the individual characteristics of each customer. The
demographics of the Group’s customer base, including the default risk of the industry and country, in which customers
operate, has less influence on credit risk. The Group earns its revenues from a large number of customers spread
across different geographical segments. However, geographically 90% (2015: 98%) of the Group’s trade and unbilled
receivables are based in Middle East and North Africa.

The Group has entered into contracts for the sale of residential and commercial units and plots of land on an
installment basis. The installments are specified in the contracts, The Group is exposed to credit risk in respect of
installments due. However, the legal ownership of residential, commercial units and plots of land is transferred to
the buyer only afier all the installments are recovered. In addition, installment dues are monitored on an ongoing basis
with the result that the Group’s exposure to bad debts is not significant.

The Group establishes an allowance for impairment at each reporting date that represents its estimate of incurred
losses in respect of trade, unbilled and other receivables. The main components of this allowance are a specific loss
component that relates to individually significant exposures, and a collective loss component established for groups
of similar assets in respect of losses that have been incurred but not yet identified. The collective loss allowance is
determined based on historical data of payment statistics for similar financial assets.

Orther financial assets and cash deposits

With respect to credit risk arising from the other financial assets of the Group, which comprise bank balances and
cash, investment in securities, loans to associates and joint ventures, other receivables and deposits, the Group’s
exposure to credit risk arises from default of the counterparty, with a maximum exposure equal to the carrying amount
of these assets.

Guarantees
The Group’s policy is to provide financial guarantees only to its subsidiaries and certain associates and joint ventures.
For details of guarantees outstanding as at the reporting date refer note 28 to the consolidated financial statements,

Excessive risk of concentration

In order to avoid excessive concentration of risk, the Group’s policies and procedures include specific guidelines to
focus on the maintenance of a diversified portfolio. Identified concentrations of credit risks are controlled and
managed accordingly. Selective hedging is used within the Group to manage risk concentrations at both the
relationship and industry levels.
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32 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES (continued)

b) Market risk

Market risk is the risk that the fair value of futurc cash flows of a financial i
changes in market prices, such as currency risk, interest rate risk and e
income or the value of its holdings of financial instruments, Financ
interest-bearing loans and borrowings, sukuk, deposits, investment in

nstrument will fluctuate because of
quity prices risks, which will affect the Group’s
ial instruments affected by market risk include
securities and derivative financial instruments.

The objective of market risk management is to manage and control market risk exposures within acceptable

parameters, while optimising the return.

The Group also enters into derivative transactions, primarily interest rate swap. The purpose is to manage the interest

rate risk arising from the Group’s sources of finance.

The Group does not hold or issue derivative financial instruments for speculative purposes.

Exposure to interest rate risk

Interest rate risk is the risk that the fair value or future cash flows of a fi
changes in market interest rates. The Group’s exposure to the risk of cha

to the Group’s long-term debt obligations with floating interest rates.

The Group manages its interest rate risk by having a balanced portfolio of
borrowings. It also enters into an interest rate swap contracts to hedge the interest
(also refer note 34). Interest on financial instruments having floating rates is re
year and interest on financial instruments having fixed rates is fi
commercial and overall business conditions, the Group’s exp
environment relates mainly to its borrowing from financial insti

deposits.

The following table demonstrates the sensitivity to a reasonably possible chan
hedge accounting, with all other variables held constant, of the Group’s pro

floating rate borrowings):

2016
Sensitivity
Change of interest
in basis income/
points expense
AED’000
Financial assets + 100 -
Financial liabilities + 100 55,324

nancial instrument will fluctuate because of
nges in market interest rates relates primarily

fixed and variable rate loans and
rate risk of the firm commitment
-priced at intervals of less than one
xed until the maturity of the instrument. Other than
osure to market risk for changes in interest rate
tutions, investment in financial products and fixed

ge in interest rates, after the impact of
fit before tax (through the impact on

2015

Sensitivity
Change of interest
in basis income/
points expense

AED’000
+100 1,752
+100 34,636

The interest rate sensitivity set out above relates primarily to the AED and USD denominated financial assets and
financial liabilities as the Group does not have any significant net exposure for financial assets and financial liabilities

denominated in currencies other than the AED or currencies pegged to the USD.

deposits, with the objective of achieving better returns than cash at bank. The interest rates on loans to associates are

described in note 14 to the consolidated financial statements. Interest rates on loan

disclosed in note 22 to the consolidated financial statements.

s from financial institutions are
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32 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES (continued)
b) Market risk (continued)

Exposure to foreign currency risk

Currency risk is the risk that the fair value or future cash flows of a financial instrument will fluctuate because of
changes in foreign exchange rates. The Group’s significant monetary assets and liabilities denominated in foreign
currencics are cither in USD or in currencies pegged to USD. As the AED is currently pegged to the USD, balances
in USD and other currencies pegged against USD are not considered to represent significant currency risk.

The table below indicates the sensitivity analysis of a change in foreign exchange rates of these currencies and their
impact on other comprehensive income:

2016 2015
Change in Effect on Change in Effect on
currency equity currency equity
Currency ratein % AED’000 rate in % AED’000
EGP +10 190,016 +10 338,749
INR +10 379,054 +10 259,419
Other currencies not pegged to US Dollar +10 24,192 +10 21,575

Exposure to equity price risk

Equity price risk is the risk that the fair values of equities increase or decrease as a result of changes in the levels of
equity indices and the value of individual stocks. The non-trading equity price risk exposure arises from the Group’s
investment portfolio. Equity price risk arises from equity instruments held by the Group at fair value through other
comprehensive income. Management of the Group monitors equity securities in its investment portfolio based on
market indices. Material investments within the portfolio are managed by qualified fund managers as well as on an
individual basis. The primary goal of the Group’s investment strategy is to maximise investment returns,

fair value through other comprehensive income as at 31 December 2016) due to a reasonably possible change in
equity indices, with all other variables held constant, is as follows:

2016 2015
Change in Effect on Change in Effect on
equity equity equity equity
pricein % AED’000 price in % AED’000
Quoted investments +10 77,797 +10 65,165

Exposure to overseas country risks
Management monitors political and economic events and developments in countries where the Group operates to
assess the likelihood of any potential impact to the Group’s financial position and results of operations
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32 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES (continued)
] Liquidity risk

Liquidity risk is the risk that the Group will not be able to meet its financial obligations as they fall due. The Group
monitors its risk to a shortage of funds using a recurring liquidity planning tool. This tool considers the maturity of
both its financial investments and financial assets (e.g. trade receivables, other financial assets) and projected cash
flows from operations.

continuity of funding and flexibility through the use of bank overdrafis, bank borrowings and finance lease contracts.
The Group manages liquidity risk by maintaining adequate reserves, banking facilities and borrowing facilities, by
continuously monitoring forecasted and actual cash flows and matching the maturity profiles of financial assets and
liabilities.

The Group currently has sufficient cash on demand to meet expected operational expenses, including the servicing of
financial obligations.

The table below summarises the maturity profile of the Group’s financial liabilities based on contractual undiscounted
payments:

Financial liabilities Less than 3 31012 liwo$5 Over
months months Years S years Total
AED’000 AED’000 AED’000  AED’000 AED’000

As at 31 December 2016

Interest-bearing loans and borrowings 770,392 567,721 9,948,564 403,976 11,690,653
Retentions payable 43,952 260,133 588,319 - 892,404
Payable to non-controlling interests - - 477,863 - 477,863
Dividend payable 301,524 - - - 301,524
Sukuk 108,836 234,562 2,975,020 6,324,493 9,642,911
Other liabilities 1,427,149 2,756,728 3,442,949 228,262 7,855,088

Total undiscounted financial liabilities 2,651,853 3,819,144 17,432,715 6,956,731 30,860,443

Financial liabilities Less than 3 31012 ltos Over

months months years S years Total
AED’000 AED’000 AED’'000  AED'000 AED'000

As at 31 December 2015

Interest-bearing loans and borrowings 208,255 472,272 2,766,833 4,665,757 8,113,117
Retentions payable 36,670 282,433 484,189 - 803,292
Payable to non-controlling interests - - 1,013,309 - 1,013,309
Dividend payable 300,457 - - - 300,457
Sukuk 136,819 2,099,046 2,692,015 3,194,794 8,122,674
Other liabilities 1,995,937 2,653,571 2,890,515 319,189 7,859,212

Total undiscounted financial liabilities 2,678,138 5,507,322 9,846,861 8,179,740 26,2 12,061
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32 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES (continued)
d) Capital management

Capital includes cquity attributable to the equity holders of the Parent. The Group’s policy is to maintain a strong
capital basc so as to maintain investor, creditor and market confidence and to sustain future development of the
business. The primary objective of the Group’s capital management strategy is to ensure that it maintains a strong
credit rating and healthy capital ratios in order to support its business and maximise shareholder value.

The Group monitors capital using a gearing ratio, which is net debt divided by total capital plus net debt. The Group’s
policy is to keep the gearing ratio below 50%. The Group includes within net debt, interest bearing loans and
borrowings and sukuk less cash and cash equivalents. Capital includes equity attributable to the owners of the Parent
less the net unrealised gains/(losses) reserve. At 31 December 2016, the Groups’ gearing ratio is 17% (2015: 10%).
The Board of Directors seeks to maintain a balance between the higher returns that might be possible with higher
levels of borrowings and the advantages and security afforded by a sound capital position.

The Board of Directors also monitors the return on capital, which the Group defines as net operating income divided
by total shareholders’ equity, excluding minority interests. The Board of Directors also monitors the level of dividends
to shareholders, the return on capital to shareholders or issuance of new shares to maintain or adjust the capital
structure,

No changes were made in the objectives, policies or processes for managing capital during the years ended
31 December 2016 and 31 December 2015,

Neither the Company nor any of its subsidiaries is subject to externally imposed capital requirements other than the
statutory requirements in the jurisdictions where the Group entities are incorporated.

33 FAIR VALUES OF FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS
Financial instruments comprise financial assets and financial liabilities.

Financial assets of the Group include bank balances and cash, trade and unbilied receivables, investment in securities,
loans and advances, other receivables, deposits and due from related parties. Financial liabilities of the Group include
customer deposits, interest-bearing loans and borrowings, sukuk, accounts payable, retentions payable and other
payables.

The fair values of the financial assets and liabilities are not materially different from their carrying value unless stated
otherwise,

34  HEDGING ACTIVITIES

Cash flow hedges
At 31 December 2016, the Group held certain interest rate Swap contracts designated as a hedge of expected future

payments under the borrowing contracts entered by the Group for which it has firm commitments. The interest rate

2016 2015
Assets Liabilities Assets Liabilities
AED’000 AED’000 AED'000 AED’000
Interest rate sSwap contracts
Fair value - 24,341 - 34,379
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34 HEDGING ACTIVITIES (continued)
Fair value hierarchy

The Group uscs the following hierarchy for determining and disclosing the fair value of cash flow hedges by valuation
technique:

Total Level | Level 2 Level 3
AED’000 AED’000 AED’000 AED’000
2016
Interest rate swap contracts 24,341 - 24,341 -
2015
Interest rate Swap contracts 34,379 - 34,379 -

Valuation technique

The present value of interest rate swaps is computed by determining the present value of the fixed leg and the floating
leg interest flows. The value of the fixed leg is given by the present value of the fixed coupon payments. The value
of the floating leg is given by the present value of the floating coupon payments determined at the agreed dates of
cach payment. The forward rate for each floating payment date is calculated using the forward curves,

35 MATERIAL PARTLY-OWNED SUBSIDIARIES

Financial information of subsidiaries of the Group that have material non-controlling interest are provided below:

Country of Ownership Ownership
incorporation 2016 2015

Emaar Malls PJSC UAE 84.63% 84.63%
Dubai Hills Estate LLC UAE 50.00% 50.00%
Emaar Misr for Development SAE Egypt 88.96% 88.96%
Renaissance Metn SAL Lebanon 65.00% 65.00%
Emaar Giga Karachi Limited Pakistan 73.12% 73.12%
Emaar Middle East LLC KSA 61.00% 61.00%
Emaar MGF Land Limited India 57.33% -

The following table summarises the statement of financial position of these subsidiaries as at 3 | December 2016. This
information is based on the amounts before inter-company elimination.

Emaar Misr Emaar
Emaar Dubai Sfor Giga Emaar Emaar
Malls  Hills Estate Development Renaissance  Karachi  Middle East MGF Land
PJSC LLC SAE Mem SAL  Limited LLC Limited
AED'000  AED'000  AED’'000  AED'000 AED'000  AED'000  AED'000
Total assets 25,407,897 4,825,380 3,723,597 579,592 857,167 2,931,006 16,853,754
Total liabilities 9,388,814 3,309,260 1,609,647 436,475 985,148 2,838,446 10,406,392
Total equity 16,019,083 1,516,120 2,113,950 143,117  (127,981) 92,560 6,447,362

Attributable to:
Owners of the Parent 13,556,950 758,060 1,900,161 93,026 (84,007) (12,008) 3,631,799
Non-controlling interest 2,462,133 758,060 213,789 50,091 (43,974) 104,568 2,815,563
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35 MATERIAL PARTLY-OWNED SUBSIDIARIES (continued)

The following table summarises the income statement of these subsidiaries as at 31 December 2016. This information
is based on the amounts before inter-company climination.

Emaar Misr Lmaar
Emaar Dubai Jor Giga Emaar Lmaar
Malls  Hills Estaie Development Renaissance  Karachi  Middle Last MGF Land
PJsC LLC SALZ Metn SAL  Limited LLC Limited

AED000  AED'000  AED'000  AED 000 AED'000  AED'000  AED'000

Revenue 3,227,951 1,160,813 2,126,122 27,165 - 264,493 151,377
Profit/ (loss) for the year 1,874,324 684,202 927,850 (28,968) (11,446) 37,727  (338,106)
Total comprehensive income

for the year 1,882,399 684,202 927,850 (28,968) (11,446) 37,727 (338,106)
Attributable to;

Owners of the Parent 1,593,074 342,101 825,401 (18,829) (8,369) 23,454 (191,907)

Non-conlrolling interest 289,325 342,101 102,449 (10,139) 3,077) 14,273 (146,199)

The following table summarises the statement of financial position of these subsidiaries as at 31 December 2015. This
information is based on the amounts before inter-company elimination.

Emaar Misr Emaar
Emaar Dubai Jor Giga Emaar
Malls Hills Estate Development Renaissance Karachi  Middle East
PJSC LLC SAE Metn SAL Limited LLC
AED'000  AED'000  AED'000 AED ‘000 AED'000  AED'000
Total assets 24,560,917 3,046,260 7,049,490 571,225 696,743 2,986,543
Total liabilities 9,117,253 1,966,306 3,263,600 399,140 805,853 2,931,710
Total equity 15,443,664 1,079,954 3,785,890 172,085  (109,110) 54,833
Attributable to:
Owners of the Parent 13,070,326 539,977 3,387,494 111,855 (70,208) (35,462)
Non-controlling interest 2,373,338 539,977 398,396 60,230 (38,902) 90,295

The following table summarises the income statement of these subsidiaries as at31 December 2015. This information
is based on the amounts before inter-company elimination,

Emaar Misr Emaar
Emaar Dubai Jor Giga Emaar
Malls Hills Estate Development Renaissance Karachi  Middle East
PJSC LLC SAE Metn SAL Limited LLC
AED'000  AED'000  AED'000 4 ED'000  AED’'000  AED’000
Revenue 2,992,692 824,808 2,105,692 104,186 - 245,341
Profit / (loss) for the year 1,656,301 439,792 686,450 (10,449) (18,281) 22,602
Total comprehensive income
for the year 1,642,987 439,792 686,450 (10,449) (18,281) 22,602
Attributable to:
Owners of the Parent 1,390,460 219,896 643,687 (6,792) (13,367) 14,539
Non-controlling interest 252,527 219,896 42,763 (3,657) (4,914) 8,063
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